
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Development Control and Regulatory Board  
 

 
 

Date/Time: Thursday, 12 June 2025 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Council Chamber, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mr E. Walters (Tel: 0116 3052583) 

Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk 

 

Membership 
 

Mr. R. Bailey CC 

Mr. S. L. Bray CC 
Mr. K. Crook CC 

Mrs. L. Danks CC 
Mr. D. A. Gamble CC 
Mr. D. J. Grimley CC 

Mrs. K. Knight CC 
 

Mr. B. Lovegrove CC 

Mr. J. McDonald CC 
Mr. J. Miah CC 

Mr. B. Piper CC 
Mr. K. Robinson CC 
Mr. B. Walker CC 

 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via You Tube 

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLrlN4_PKzPXjar7IOtLtNZvIwZ4xT_8yU 

– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item  
 

  

 
1.  

  

Appointment of Chairman.  

 

 

2.  
  

Election of Deputy Chairman.  
 

 

3.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2025.  
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

4.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 

5.  

  

Questions asked by Members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  

 

 

6.  

  

To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take 

as urgent elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 

7.  

  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.  

 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLrlN4_PKzPXjar7IOtLtNZvIwZ4xT_8yU


8.  
  

Presentation of petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 

 

 Reports of the Chief Executive on Planning Applications - County Matter 
Applications. 

  
9.  
  

2025/00337/03 (2025/VOCM/0028/LCC) - Proposed Variation of 
Conditions 1, 18, 26, 29 of Planning Permission Reference 

2013/1538/03 Erection of an Anaerobic Digestion Facility with 
associated infrastructure and landscaping - Sutton Lodge Farm, 

Frolesworth Road, Broughton Astley.  
 

(Pages 7 - 52) 

10.  

  

Any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent.  

 

 

11.  

  

Chairman's announcements.  

 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Development Control and Regulatory Board held at County 

Hall, Glenfield on Thursday, 3 April 2025.  
 

PRESENT 

 
Mr. L. Phillimore CC (in the Chair) 

 
Mr. R. G. Allen CC 
Mr. N. D. Bannister CC 

Mr. M. H. Charlesworth CC 
Mr. J. G. Coxon CC 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
 

Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mr. B. Lovegrove CC 

Mr. K. Merrie MBE CC 
Mr. B. Walker CC 

 

 

63. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 February 2025 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

64. Question Time.  
 

The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

65. Questions asked by Members.  
 

The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

66. Urgent items.  
 

There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

67. Declarations of interest.  

 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 

items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. L. Phillimore CC declared a registerable interest in agenda item 9: New Lubbesthorpe 

Primary School as he was a member of Blaby District Council. 
 

68. Presentation of petitions.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 

36. 
 

 
 
 

3 Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 

69. Application under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add a Public 

Footpath to the Definitive Map at Nanpantan, Loughborough.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport, a copy of 

which, marked ‘Agenda Item 7’, is filed with these minutes. The Board was also in receipt 
of a supplementary report which responded to representations submitted on behalf of the 

landowners. 
 
In accordance with the procedures for making representations to the Board, Nikki Beers 

(Faxtons) spoke on behalf of the landowners in objection to the application, and Cllr 
Margaret Smidowicz (Charnwood Borough Council) and Andy Travis (local resident) 

spoke in favour of the application. 
 
In response to a question from a member, the Director of Environment and Transport 

confirmed that were the Board to permit the application, the next stage of the process 
would be for a public consultation to take place and were any objections to be made 

during that process the matter would be referred to the Planning Inspectorate and a 
Public Inquiry could take place. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That an Order be made under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 to add Public Footpath K110 at Nanpantan, Loughborough to the 
Definitive Map as shown on Plan No. M1269. 

 
70. 2019/2358/07 (2019/CM/0244/LCC) - Tarmac Aggregates Ltd: Extraction of sand and 

gravel, relocation of conveyor and bridge, use of existing processing plant and ancillary 

facilities, importation of inert restoration materials with restoration to agriculture and 
nature conservation - Lockington Quarry, Warren Lane, Lockington.  

 
The Board considered a report of the Chief Executive, a copy of which, marked 'Agenda 
Item 8', is filed with these minutes. 

 
The Chief Executive reported that the local member Mr. T.J. Pendleton CC had raised 

concerns that should the quarry be filled with Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) it could have an 
impact on the net water volume level. In response the Chief Executive confirmed that 
there were no intentions for PFA to be used in the quarry. 

 
In response to queries raised by members about potential damage to the Scheduled 

Monuments within or nearby the site caused by the extraction and restoration work at the 
site, the Chief Executive drew attention to proposed condition no. 49 which required a 
detailed Water Action Management Plan to be produced and an Annual Report to enable 

the Mineral Planning Authority, Natural England and Historic England to monitor the 
effects of the development on the Scheduled Monument. It was also explained that 

should there be damage to the Scheduled Monuments arising from the development the 
Mineral Planning Authority could serve an Enforcement Notice for breach of conditions 
requiring the applicant to remedy the situation. Though the exact remedy would depend 

on the nature of the damage caused. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

4



 
 

 

 

That the application be permitted subject to the conditions nos. 1-77 set out in Appendix 

A and the prior completion of a S106 legal agreement requiring the formation of a liaison 
committee and securing provision for a permissive bridleway. 
 

71. 2025/S106a/0008/LCC - Leicestershire County Council: Section 106A application to 
modify section 106 agreement in relation to obligations relating to education - New 

Lubbesthorpe Primary School, Tay Rd, Leicester.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Chief Executive, a copy of which, marked ‘Agenda 

Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the application to vary the obligations so that the obligations as set out in the Sixth 

schedule to the S106 agreement as set out in Appendix A be substituted by the wording 
of the Sixth schedule shown in Appendix B, be permitted. 

 
72. Chairman's announcements.  

 

The Chairman announced that the next meeting of the Board would take place on 
Thursday 12 June 2025 at 2.00pm. 
 

 
 

2.00  - 3.45 pm CHAIRMAN 
03 April 2025 

 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 

 
12 JUNE 2025 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
COUNTY MATTER  

 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 

 
 
APP.NO. & DATE: 2025/VOCM/0028/LCC (2025/00337/03) 
 
PROPOSAL: PROPOSED VARIATION OF CONDITIONS 1, 18, 26, 

29 OF PLANNING PERMISSION 2013/1538/03 
(2013/VOCM/0295/LCC) FOR THE VARIATION OF 

CONDITION NOS. 1 AND 13 OF PERMISSION REF. 
2009/1488/03 TO DEFER THE REQUIREMENT FOR A 
BRIDGE SURVEY, BRIDGE WORKS AND A TRAFFIC 

REGULATION ORDER AND APPROVAL OF 
SCHEMES SUBMITTED UNDER CONDITIONS 7, 12, 

28, 36 AND 38 OF PLANNING PERMISSION 
2009/1488/03 FOR THE ERECTION OF AN 
ANAEROBIC DIGESTON FACILITY WITH 

ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AND  
LANDSCAPING 

 
LOCATION: SUTTON LODGE FARM, FROLESWORTH ROAD, 

BROUGHTON ASTLEY 

 
APPLICANT: Sutton Lodge Biogas Limited 

  
MAIN ISSUES: highway safety, impacts to local amenity resulting from 

increased noise, landscape and visual impacts 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval subject to conditions 

 
 

Circulation Under Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
Mr B. Piper CC (Broughton Astley ED) 
 

 

Officer to Contact 

 
Vicky Webb (Tel. 0116 305 4816).   
Email:  planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk  

  

7 Agenda Item 9

mailto:planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk


DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

PART B – MAIN REPORT 
 

The Site and Surroundings 
 

1. The application site is an agricultural field to the east of the Fosse Way. It lies 
approximately 1.3 kilometres (km) east of Sapcote and 1.3km west of Broughton 
Astley within the parish of Broughton Astley. The field is roughly rectangular in 

shape and is some 2.3 hectares (ha) in size. It is classed as Grade 3 agricultural 
land and is currently under pasture. The field falls gently from east to west and 

is bounded on its north-western boundary with mature trees and hedges, 
whereas the other boundaries consist predominantly of lower lying hedges 
interspersed with mature trees. A watercourse, which is an unnamed tributary 

of the River Soar, also forms the north-west boundary of the site. The River Soar 
itself is approximately 90 metres (m) to the north and west of the site and the 

site access road, and a small section of the site in its northern tip, fall within 
Flood Zone 2. The site is located within a Nitrate Vulnerable Zone. 
  

2. The application site sits in a predominantly rural landscape with agricultural land 
adjoining the site in all directions. It is accessed via a dedicated road directly off 

Roman Road/the Fosse Way, which is an unclassified road connecting to the 
B4114 (Coventry Road). 
 

3. The site is in a sparsely populated area, which is characterised by dispersed 
farmsteads. The nearest residential property is Fosse Farm, which is 300 
metres to the south. Beyond this, residential properties at Sutton Lodge Farm 

are approximately 695m to the south-east, whilst the Barnhouse is 685m to the 
north-east.  

 
4. There are no historic environment designations within the site. One non-

statutory nature conservation designation, the River Soar, Stoney Bridge, 

Stoney Stanton Local Wildlife Site (LWS) is immediately adjacent to the north -
west site boundary. One public bridleway (W59) runs to the north of the site and 

is also accessed off the Fosse Way. After a distance of around 11m from its 
access from the Fosse Way this bridleway joins the access track to Sutton 
Lodge, (i.e. the track is the bridleway).  

 
Planning History  

 
5. Planning permission (Ref: 2009/1488/03) was granted in November 2010 for 

the erection of an anaerobic digestion facility with associated infrastructure and 

landscaping. Permission was granted subject to 38 conditions, including a 
number of pre-commencement conditions, and a legal agreement. The legal 

agreement covers matters relating to off-site highway improvement works, 
archaeological survey work and flood risk emergency evacuation measures. 
With the exception of conditions 11 and 13 (which were the subject of planning 

application 2013/1538/03), all pre-commencement conditions were submitted 
and the development implemented (via the creation of the site access), prior to 

the expiry of the planning permission. Whilst no further development has taken 
place since the creation of the site access, the planning permission is 
considered to have been lawfully implemented and remains extant.  

 
6. In August 2014, planning permission (Ref: 2013/1538/03) was granted for the 

variation of conditions 11 and 13 of planning permission 2009/1488/03 in order 

8



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

to defer the requirement for a bridge survey, bridge works and the implementation 
of a traffic regulation order. This permission did not seek to change any aspect of 

the original scheme.  
 

7. Further amendments to the scheme were approved in October 2022 under a 

non-material amendment1 (Ref: 2022/NMA/0128/LCC). The changes related to 
the replacement of a combined heat and power (CHP) unit with a gas upgrading 

unit and grid entry unit. 
 

8. An application for a non-material amendment (Ref: 2024/NMA/0119/LCC) for 

the variation of Condition 18 to allow for the year-round export of digestate from 
the facility was refused by Leicestershire County Council (made under officer 

delegated powers) in November 2024 because the proposed amendment was 
considered to be ‘material’.  

 

9. The site is identified as a safeguarded waste site in the Leicestershire Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan 2019-2031. 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
1 A non-material amendment is a form of  application that can be made under Section 96a of  the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990. It is a way of  amending an existing planning permission where the 
amendment is very minor and is not a material change to the development as approved.  

9



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

Background/Description of Consented Development 
 

10. The consented anaerobic digestion (AD) facility is designed to process up to 
55,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) of a mix of agricultural manures, residues from 
the food processing industry and, potentially, municipal waste from within 

Leicestershire, subject to appropriate contracts being secured.  It will also 
generate around 47,000 tpa of liquid digestate which would be used as an 

alternative to artificial fertilizer on farms. Digestate is permitted to be exported 
from site by both road and pipeline, although precise details of the latter have 
never been confirmed. Approximately 1,000 tonnes (t) of wrapping/packaging 

waste, associated with the residues from the food processing industry, was also 
originally envisaged to be generated which was to be redistributed to recycling 

and/or landfill facilities.  
 

11. The original application provided broad indicative details of the quantities/mix of 

waste feedstocks that would be required to operate the plant (10,000 tpa of 
cattle/poultry slurries, 10,000 tpa of silage and 35,000 tpa of food processing 
wastes) making it clear that these quantities were estimates which may be 

subject to change, depending on the quantities of available food wastes and 
slurries at any time. The applicant has stated that, in the intervening period since 

the initial grant of planning permission, waste management approaches have 
also moved on. A consequence of this is that food waste will no longer form as 
significant a feedstock for the project as originally proposed. Whilst the facility 

will continue to incorporate some non-agricultural waste, this is likely to be 
process liquids rather than large volumes of food waste with associated 

packaging as originally envisaged. A significant proportion of the feedstock will 
now be formed of rotational energy crops and agricultural waste to generate 
renewable biomethane gas.   

 
12. The AD plant was originally intended to generate 1.5 megawatts (MW) of 

electricity continuously via a combined heat and power (CHP) plant. Upgrades 
in technology and changes to UK Government energy policy in the intervening 
period since the original grant of permission has seen the introduction/adoption 

of ‘gas to grid’ biomethane injection for AD plants.  Following the NMA approval 
in 2022, the plant will now generate biomethane intended to be fed back into 

the natural gas grid network. Development outside of the site required to 
facilitate the direct connection to the gas network will be undertaken by Cadent 
Gas. Deemed consent for this is granted by Part 15, Class A of Schedule 2 of 

the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
(Order) 2015 subject to a prior notification.  

 

Description of Proposal 
 

13. Sutton Lodge Biogas Limited has made an application not to comply with 
planning conditions 1 (approved details), 18 (restriction on export of digestate), 

26 (noise limits) and 29 (pipeline) of planning permission 2013/1538/03. In 
addition, it is also proposed to add a further condition to the planning permission 
which seeks to provide additional controls in respect of construction and 

operational traffic. The applicant has stated that the proposed amendments to 
the approved scheme are required to enable the facility to operate using more 

efficient updated technologies compared to those approved within the extant 
permission. 

 

Approved Details 

10



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

 
14. It is proposed to vary Condition 1 of planning permission 2013/1538/03 which 

states:  
 
Unless otherwise required by this permission the development shall be carried 

out in accordance with the following details: 
 

a) the planning application and accompanying environmental statement 
dated November 2009, including the revised Chapter 10; 

b) Drawing No. GF261-01 Revision E; Drawing No. GF261-02 Revision B; 

Drawing No. L82.1/101B; 
c) email dated 11 January 2010 from Barry Groves to Nick Wakefield; 

d) document titled ‘Project design for archaeological recording at Stoney 
Bridge, Broughton Astley (Sapcote), Leics’ NGR SP 504929 dated 8 th 
November 2013. 

 
15. Revisions to the layout and structures are sought in order to ensure that the 

facility would be compliant with the requirements of the Environmental 
Permitting regime (Regulated by the Environment Agency). The proposed 
amendments to the previously approved site layout would broadly include the 

following changes: 
 

• Introduction of additional weighbridges (1 no. each entry and exit 

weighbridge).  

• Reduction in height of buildings.  

• Overall reduction in built footprint.  

• Relocation of approved infrastructure within an updated site layout 

including a one-way system for HGVs. 

• Introduction of odour treatment infrastructure.  

• The removal of a floor mounted gas holder.   

• Introduction of buried propane tank for gas upgrading.  

• Introduction of carbon dioxide (CO2) recovery equipment to prevent 
release to atmosphere.  

• Introduction of an additional CHP, boiler and localised pump rooms; and 

• Maximised ventilation of structures to comply with current Environment 
Agency (EA) permitting requirements.  

 
16. The proposed revisions to the approved layout and buildings would result in the 

reduction in height and scale of a number of the buildings/structures. The large 
tanks would retain the same footprint, albeit in a slightly amended location, but 
wall height would be reduced by 4m leading to a reduction in their overall volume 

from 22,800 cubic metres (m³) to 19,200m³, which equates to a 15% reduction 
in size. Both tanks would also be covered to enable gas storage and odour 

containment. The consented process tanks have a combined structural volume 
of 13,000m3, whilst the revised scheme would see this reduced to 12,820m³. 
The reception building would be reduced in size, with approximately 50% of the 

roof line reduced in height by 3.6m to 11.24m in height. This would result in a 
reduction in overall volume from 26,655m³, to 21,050m³.  

 
17. In order to secure these changes, it is proposed that the wording of condition 1 

is amended to the following: 

 

11



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

Unless otherwise required by this permission the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the following details: 

 
a) the planning application and accompanying environmental statement dated 

November 2009, including the revised Chapter 10;  

b) Drawing Nos. STNL-ABE-LAY-001-D AD Site Layout Plan; STNL-ABE- LAY-
003-C AD Site Elevations;  

c) email dated 11 January 2010 from Barry Groves to Nick Wakefield;  
d) document titled 'Project design for archaeological recording at Stoney Bridge, 

Broughton Astley (Sapcote), Leics' NGR SP 504929 dated 8th November 

2013. 
 

Exportation of Digestate 
 

18. The original planning application proposed that export of digestate by road and 

pipeline would only be undertaken between the months of March to September 
due to ‘environmental restrictions’ in place at the time the application was 

submitted, although did not specify what these were. Condition 18 of planning 
permission 2013/1538/03 is currently worded as follows: 
 

‘There shall be no exportation of digestate from the application site hereby 
permitted except during the months of March, April, May, June, August and 
September’. 

 
19. The applicant states that Condition 18 conflicts with current agricultural best 

practice, which favours the year-round use of natural digestates over synthetic 
alternatives. In addition, the application states that the condition is worded such 
that it does not differentiate between the export of digestate from site by road or 

pipeline which causes conflict with widely established best agricultural 
practices. The applicant also indicates that the effect of this restriction would be 

to increase peak movements within the HGV movement cap set within Condition 
16, due to removing the ability to manage smaller exports year-round.  
 

20. It is proposed to amend the wording of condition 18 to the following: 
 

‘There shall be no exportation of digestate from the application site hereby 
permitted until a Digestate Management Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The Digestate 

Management Plan shall include details of both liquid and solid digestate 
including the means of export and how it will be used to maximise agricultural 

and environmental benefits in accordance with the approved Operational 
Transport Management Plan (OTMP). A Digestate Management Plan, which 
shall also include a programme of implementation, shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the LPA and be implemented as approved and 
maintained for the duration of the development’. 

 
21.  In order to support the proposed variation of Condition 18, the applicant has 

provided a Digestate Management Strategy (DMS) which establishes the 

principles of future digestate export management in combination with an 
Operational Transport Management Plan (OTMP), which also forms part of the 

application. 
 

22. The DMS provides further detail and justification for the need for year-round export 

of digestate. It states that farmers are proactively seeking to use sustainably 

12



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

produced digestate to replace manufactured fertiliser in both the short and 
longer terms, noting that the introduction of the Carbon Border Adjustment 

Mechanism (CBAM) from 1 January 2027 would effectively impose a carbon tax 
on the latter. Reference is made to the need for a nutrient management plan as 
required by the Reduction and Prevention of Agricultural Diffuse Pollution 

(England) Regulations 2018. The document states that efficient use of nutrients 
is dependent on the timing, method of application, weather and soil conditions 

when the digestate is spread. It further adds that the optimum time varies with  
each crop type e.g. digestate spreading associated with the cultivation of winter 
wheat (spring, but depending on soil weather conditions, as early as mid-

January); oilseed rape, (autumn with further application in late January to 
February) and grass (February through to October). The DMS states that 

weather, field and crop conditions provide only short windows of opportunity for 
the spreading of digestate and, as a consequence, it is more efficient to locate 
storage lagoons for liquid digestate at or close to the destination farms. It 

indicates that best practice would be to transport digestate to destination farms 
throughout the year so it can be stored ready for use, avoiding both the potential 

for short intensive ‘campaigns’ of traffic movements to the farms during the peak 
crop growth periods and delays in getting digestate to farms during busy 
periods. In conclusion, the DMS states that a storage volume equal to six 

months of production is required to ensure digestate need not be applied 
unnecessarily during October to March when weather and soil conditions may 

be inappropriate. Furthermore, applications should not be carried out if there is 
no crop need nor if field and weather conditions are inappropriate. The wording 
of Condition 18 incorrectly identifies the time periods when digestate should be 

exported from the Sutton Lodge Farm site and is both agronomically incorrect 
and logistically unhelpful. 

 
23. The Operational Traffic Management Plan (OTMP) provides an assessment of the 

potential transport impacts associated with the operational phase of 

development at Sutton Lodge Farm as a result of the proposed variation of 
condition 18 as well as a strategy to mitigate the effects of traffic travelling to 

and from the site. It provides details of proposed traffic generation during the 
operational period, traffic routing for HGVs/tractors, loading and unloading 
arrangements, dust control measures and wheel wash facilities for vehicles 

accessing/egressing the site.  
 

Noise Levels 
 

24. The original application was accompanied by an acoustic assessment which was 

undertaken in September 2009. The conclusions of that assessment were 
carried forward into Condition 26 of planning permission 2013/1538/03, which 

states: 
 
The noise levels attributable to the development when measured 3.5 metres 

from the most exposed façade of any noise sensitive property shall not exceed 
41dB(A)LAeq at Sutton Lodge Farm and 44dB(A)LAeq at Fosse Farm and The 

Barnhouse during the hours of 07:00 – 22:00 and 33dB(A)LAeq at Sutton Lodge 
Farm and 35dB(A)LAeq at Fosse Farm and The Barnhouse during the hours of 
22:00 – 07:00. 

 
25. The applicant proposes an amendment to condition 26 to reflect current 

background noise levels. A noise assessment has been submitted with the 

13



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

application which identifies that current baseline noise levels exceed the upper 
noise limits set within the existing condition. The noise assessment, which was 

undertaken continuously between 10 January and 17 January 2025, was carried 
out at three sensitive receptor locations: The Barnhouse, Fosse Farm and 
Sutton Lodge Farm. The outcome of that assessment was as follows: 

 

Receptor Daytime (0700 – 
2300 hours) 

(LAeq, 16 Hour) 

Nighttime – (2300 – 
0700 hours) 

(LAeq, 18 hour) 

The Barnhouse 50 42 

Fosse Farm 51 40 

Sutton Lodge Farm 46 40 

 
26.   Accordingly, an amendment to increase the soundscape LAeq noise levels to 

reflect existing 2025 LAeq levels is requested. The applicant has proposed that 
the wording of condition 26 is amended to the following:  

 
‘The noise levels attributable to the development when measured 3.5 metres 
from the most exposed facade of any noise sensitive property shall not exceed 

46dB(A)LAeq 12hour at Sutton Lodge Farm and  51dB(A)LAeq 12hour at Fosse 
Farm and The Barnhouse during the hours of 07:00 - 23:00 and 40dB(A)LAeq 

12hour at Sutton Lodge Farm and 42dB(A)LAeq 12hour at Fosse Farm and The 
Barnhouse during the hours of 23:00 - 07:00’. 
 

Use of Pipeline 
 

27.  Condition 29 states 

 
No use of the development shall take place until a scheme for moving the 

digestate by pipeline has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Waste 
Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include details of the size, location, 
external materials and colours, volume, and annual throughput of the pipeline.  

The scheme shall also include details on the predicted noise caused by the 
pumping of any digestate (biofertiliser) and how potential leaks would be 

minimised.  The approved scheme shall be implemented within 6 months of the 
development being brought into use and thereafter maintained as such. 

 

28. The applicant has indicated that, at present, there is no anticipated use of a 
digestate pipeline associated with Sutton Lodge Farm AD, with all digestate to 

be initially exported by road. It is proposed that the vehicles importing feedstock 
to the facility would also be used to export the digestate back to the origin farms 
for appropriate storage and subsequent spreading as and when required.  The 

applicant has also indicated that any pipeline would first require certainty of 
delivery before it would form part of a digestate export strategy. Accordingly, 

due to the lack of certainty relating to the pipeline and the lack of firm proposal 
to initially rely on the pipeline for export, the applicant has requested that the 
wording of Condition 29 be amended to allow the facility to operate in advance 

of details relating to the pipeline being discharged. In the event that the facility 
had access to a pipeline in the future, then the revised wording of Condition 29 

would allow for the pipeline to be brought into use at that time following the 
submission of the details information as currently required by the condition. The 
applicant proposes to submit a detailed Digestate Management Plan containing 

all information prior to any pipeline being brought into use.  

14



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

 
29. The application proposes the following amendments to the wording of condition 

29: 
 
No use of the pipeline shall take place until a detailed Digestate Management 

Plan including a scheme for moving the digestate by pipeline has been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme 

shall include details of the size, location, external materials and colours, volume, 
and annual throughput of the pipeline. The scheme shall also include details on 
the predicted noise caused by the pumping of any digestate (biofertiliser) and 

how potential leaks would be minimised. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented within 6 months of the development being brought into use and 

thereafter maintained as such. 
 
     Traffic Management Plan 

 
30. The final proposed amendment is the insertion of an additional condition which 

seeks to provide greater control in respect of construction and operational 
traffic. The condition is proposed following discussions with the highway 
authority at the time of the 2024 NMA. In support of this, the applicant has 

provided a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP). The CTMP provides 
details of the proposed traffic routing (no left turn out of /no right turn into the 

site from Fosse Way), the construction programme (66 weeks), trip generation 
and traffic impacts in respect of HGV and construction staff traffic, construction 
management including measures to control construction noise, dust, dirt and 

emissions, and proposed traffic management measures including the use of a 
banksman, the creation of a secure site boundary, a highway condition survey 

pre, during and post construction.  
 

31.  The proposed condition is as follows:  

 
‘The construction of the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved Construction Traffic Management Plan dated January 2025. Any 
deviation from the approved document must be approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority’. 

 
32. No amendments are proposed in respect of daily vehicle movements, hours of 

operation or the annual throughput of the site.  
 
   Planning Policy  

 
National Policy  

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (December 2024)  

 

33. The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and is a 
material consideration in planning decisions. Paragraph 11 requires plans and 

decisions to apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision making this means: 

 

a) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date plan 
without delay; or  

15



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

b) where there are no relevant policies or the policies which are most important 
for determining the application are out of date, granting planning permission 

unless:  
 

(i) the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 
as a whole, having particular regard to key policies for directing 

development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land and 
securing well-designed places.  

 
34. Section 4: Decision Making sets out the Government’s policy with regard to 

decision making and states that local planning authorities should approach 

decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way.  Paragraph 
56 requires local planning authorities to consider whether otherwise 

unacceptable development can be made so through the use of conditions or 
obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition.  

 
National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (October 2014) 

 
35. Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that when determining waste planning 

applications, waste planning authorities should consider the likely impact on the 

local environment, amenity and the locational implications of any advice on 
health from the relevant health bodies; ensure that waste management facilities 

are well-designed and contribute positively to the character and quality of the 
area in which they are located; and do not concern themselves with the control 
of processes which are a matter for the pollution control authorities. Waste 

planning authorities should work on the assumption that the relevant pollution 
control regime will be properly applied and enforced. 

 
  Waste Management Plan for England (WMPE) (January 2021) 

 

36. The WMPE sets out the Government’s aim of securing greater reuse and 
recycling rates across all waste streams, thereby moving waste up the 

hierarchy. 
 
  The Development Plan 

 
37. The development plan for the application site is made up of the Leicestershire 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2019-2031 (adopted September 2019) 
(LMWLP), the Harborough Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted April 2019) (HLP) 
and the Broughton Astley Neighbourhood Plan (BANP) (made January 2014). 

The principal policy considerations are set out below. 
 

38. Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2019-2031 (adopted September 
2019) (LMWLP) 
 

• Policy DM1: Sustainable Development 

• Policy DM2: Local Environment and Community Protection 

• Policy DM5: Landscape Impact  

16



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

• Policy DM9: Transportation by Road 

• Policy DM10: Public Rights of Way  

 
39.  Harborough Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted April 2019) (HLP) 

 

• Policy GD1: Achieving Sustainable Development  

• Policy GD3: Development in the Countryside 

• Policy GD5: Landscape Character  

• Policy GD8: Good Design in Development 

• Policy GI15: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

• Policy CC1: Mitigating Climate Change 

• Policy CC2: Renewable Energy Generation 

• Policy CC3: Managing Flood Risk 

• Policy CC4: Sustainable Drainage 

• Policy IN2: Sustainable Transport 

 
40.  Broughton Astley Neighbourhood Plan 2013 – 2018 (made January 2014) 

 

• Policy T1: Transport and Traffic Management  

• Policy SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  

 
 Other Policy Considerations 

 
41. Harborough District Council is currently in the process of producing a new Local 

Plan. Work is at a relatively advanced stage with a consultation under 

Regulation 19 of the Proposed Submission Draft Plan 2020-2041 undertaken 
between 10 March – 6 May 2025. The emerging plan therefore has some weight 

as a material consideration. Draft policies relevant to the proposal are: 
 

• Draft Policy DS03: Tackling Climate Change and Enhancing the Natural 

Environment 

• Draft Policy AP04: Development in the Countryside (Commercial/Non-

Residential) 

• Draft Policy AP05: Locating Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

development   

• Draft Policy DM01: High Quality Inclusive Design 

• Draft Policy DM02: Amenity and Wellbeing  

• Draft Policy DM04: Landscape Character and Sensitivity 

• Draft Policy DM06: Transport and Accessibility 

• Draft Policy DM07: Managing Flood Risk 

• Draft Policy DM08: Sustainable Drainage 

• Draft Policy DM09: Sustainable Construction and Climate Resilience 
 

42.  A review of the Broughton Astley Neighbourhood Plan commenced in 2023, 
although no updated draft plan is available to view. The plan review has no 

weight as a material consideration.  
 

Consultations 

 
43.  Harborough District Council – Comments 

 

17



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

44.  Harborough District Council (HDC) raise concerns that the proposal will lead to 
harmful impacts on neighbour amenity by increased noise and disturbance and 

the intensification in respect of traffic movements on the limited road network 
and especially through nearby villages. 

 

45.  HDC also cited the applicant’s statement that the reason for the application is due 
to a change in the type of waste processed at the site, with "food waste [is] no 

longer envisaged to be as significant a feedstock for the project". HDC 
commented that the Environment Act 2021 brought in a mandatory duty for all 
Local Authorities to provide a kerbside food waste collection service and 

expressed concern that at a time when increasing numbers of facilities are 
required to deal with household food waste, the proposal would decrease that 

provision. We ask that colleagues at LCC give weight to this material 
consideration in the planning balance. 
 

46.   Broughton Astley Parish Council – Objection 
 

47.  Broughton Astley Parish Council (BAPC) raise no objections to the proposed 
variation of condition 1, but strongly object to the proposed variations to 
conditions 18, 26 and 29.  

 
48.  With regard to condition 18, the introduction of a one-way system for the lay-by at 

the Fosse Way junction is a major concern, creating significant difficulties when 
entering/exiting the site onto the B4114 (Coventry Road) which has a 50mph 
speed limit. Concern was also raised regarding the potential for debris 

accumulating on the B4114, which due to a bend at its junction with Fosse Way, 
would pose a safety risk for cyclists and motorists. 

 
49.   BAPC has deep concern regarding any potential increase in noise levels. The 

area is a peaceful rural location, and any elevated noise levels would disturb 

the tranquillity of the surrounding area. Increased noise levels would be audible 
over a wide area, increasing impacts to local residents and local wildlife. 

 
50.   With regard to condition 29, BAPC consider that retaining the pipeline would be 

preferable as it would significantly reduce the number of vehicular movements 

to and from the site, alleviating potential traffic congestion, reducing carbon 
emissions and minimising environmental impact of the project.  

   
51.   Frolesworth Parish Meeting – Objection 

 

52. Frolesworth Parish Meeting (FPM) notes the number of changes made to the 
scheme since its initial approval in 2010, stating that this application represents 

a tipping point where the application is now so changed from the original that a 
new full application should be submitted. In support of this argument, FPC refers 
to the proposed changes in inputs from the original application, commenting that 

the growing of non-indigenous crops as waste to feed the plant would result in 
considerable adverse changes to the landscape of South Leicestershire leading 

to conflict with policy “The Government’s policy is that the primary purpose of 
agricultural land should be for growing food.”  
 

53. FPM also notes that it is not proposed to use the pipeline for export of digestate 
at this time and raises queries regarding the size, scale and routing of the 

18



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

pipeline; the scale of the pipeline’s pumping station; how many pipelines there 
will be and what impact they could have on the landscape.  

 
54. The impact of year-round vehicle movements to and from the site on the 

communities is not adequately addressed. Also, the consequences of run -off 

into waterways with a 100% increase in the number of months is not assessed. 
These changes require a new application.  

 
55. The previous planning permission (2013/1538/03) achieved a balance of thirty-

two conditions in order to protect the countryside location, the needs of those 

involved with the plant and the public who would be affected by it. This balance 
should be disrupted only if there are compelling reasons to do so which FPM 

consider there are none.  
 
56. Proposal to vary condition 1: The change in plans make visible why a new 

application is in the interest of all concerned. FPM suggest that the proposal to 
vary should be refused.  

 
57. Proposal to vary condition 18. The Council refused this in November 2024 and 

there are no sound reasons to change its decision (2024/NMA/00119/LCC). The 

activity of transporting digestate for twelve months of the year, rather than the 
approved six, would have an adverse impact on the amenity of the countryside 

location, the amenity of the public, including the many visitors to the area, 
especially those visiting the close-by Fosse Meadows Country Park by car, on 
foot, by bicycle and by public transport. No evidence is presented for the “best 

practice...” “…which favour the year-round use of natural digestates over 
synthetic alternatives,” On 27 September 2024 DEFRA posted “The closed 

period prohibits the spreading of organic manures (excluding dirty water), from 
midnight 15 October to midnight 31 January.” The six months of export of 
digestate was agreed with the applicant and the Council as a result of the needs 

of the local farmers and for the amenity of the location and communities. A 100% 
increase in the months of export is a significant material change, which appears 

to reinforce the need for a new application. Consequently, FPM believe the 
proposal to vary condition 18 should be refused.  

 

58. Proposal to vary condition 26. The Council’s reason for this condition is: “To 
ensure that the development does not become a source of adverse noise levels 

in the locality.” There is no sound reason for variance. Consequently, FPM 
believe this proposal should be refused.  

 

59. Proposal to vary condition 29. Until the applicant removes the ambiguity 
concerning the proposed pipeline, no useful purpose would be served by 

varying the existing condition. The Council’s sound reason for the condition is; 
“This consent is granted only because of the potential to secure specific benefits 
for the export of digestate products within the local agricultural area and the 

consequential reduction in traffic generation in the local highway network.” It is 
trusted that a new full application would make clear the status and impact of the 

proposed pipeline. FPM believe the proposal to vary should be refused.  
 
60. Proposal for an additional, 33rd condition. The transport plans submitted rely on 

doubling the months vehicles and trailers use local highways. This has been 
refused already and should be dismissed again. Under these circumstances an 

extra condition serves no useful purpose. 

19



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

 
61. Environment Agency (EA) – No objection. 

 
62. The EA raised no objections to the proposed variation of condition and provided 

informative notes regarding the need for an Environmental Permit and the 

assessments made as part of that process including techniques for pollution 
control including in process controls, emission control, management, waste 

feedstock and digestate, energy, accidents, noise and monitoring; emission 
benchmarks for combustion products, temperature and pH; and air quality 
impact assessment, including odour and Habitats Regulations Assessment.  

 
63. Leicestershire County Council - Local Highways Authority (LHA) – No 

Objection 
 
64. The LHA initially objected to the proposed revision of condition 18 and the 

proposed insertion of a new condition (no.33) due to due to a lack of information 
relating to abnormal loads, parking for construction staff, measures to restrict 

vehicle movements during the AM and PM highway network peaks and wheel 
washing facilities.  Following the submission of additional information, the LHA 
has withdrawn its objection, making the following comments:   
 

65. ‘Condition 18 – Exportation of Digestate 
 

The LHA previously advised while it appreciated the Applicants intention to 
avoid vehicle movements during the highway peak hours, it would expect the 

OTMP to contain firmer measures in relation to how it would ensure deliveries 
will be spread out and that no deliveries will be scheduled within the network 
peak hours. It was advised this could impact on the free flow of traffic on the 

B4114, which would be considered contrary to Policy 2 of the Leicestershire 
Highway Design Guide (LHDG).  

 
   The Applicant has indicated in Paragraph 3.2.4 of the OTMP that the 

HGV/ tractor contractors will utilise tracking software on the operational 

vehicles to ensure that HGV movements do not occur during the typical 
network AM or PM peak hour. Furthermore, this approach will ensure that 

deliveries do not exceed the daily limits of 46 HGVs during any 24-hour period 
which was set out within Condition 16 of the 2013/1538/03 Section 73 
application.  

 
   The LHA understands that the software provides location history for 

each vehicle which provides details on the paths travelled which will help to 
ensure that operational vehicles follow the routes outlined within Section 4 of 
the OTMP. 

 
   In addition, Paragraph 4.1.4 outlines some measures the Applicant will 

use to enforce the policy, which includes a ‘three strikes and you are out 
policy’ should a contractor not adhere to the traffic restrictions. The LHA 
considers the proposed measures outlined within the OTMP to be acceptable.  

  
   The LHA also previously advised that the OTMP should include the 

location of wheel washing facilities and that these should be located a 
minimum of 15m from the highway boundary to prevent water runoff draining 
into the highway. Paragraph 4.5.1 of the OTMP now states wheel washing 

facilities will be located at least 15m from the highway boundary.  

20



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

 
   Whilst the LHA cannot see the location of the wheel washing facilities 

shown on the drawing within Appendix 1 of the OTMP as stated, the CPA has 
highlighted documents submitted in order to discharge condition 11 of 
application reference 2013/1538/03. This details a permanent wheel washing 

facility situated well within the site.  
 

   Given the above, the LHA advises it now has no objection to the 
variation of condition 18’. 

 

66. ‘Proposed Condition 33 
 

Whilst the LHA previously advised it supported the implementation of the 
condition; it advised additional information was required.  
 

The LHA previously advised that Roman Road is a two-way single carriageway 
that varies in width between approximately 3.1m and 5.3m. A 7.5 tonne weight 

limit (with exception for loading) is in place and the carriageway is particularly 
narrow across the River Soar Bridge. Therefore, the LHA were concerned over 
reference within the CTMP that Abnormal Indivisible Load Vehicles (AILV) will 

need to access the site.  
 

The LHA advised it was concerned over the suitability of the existing highway 
to cater for such movements and further consideration of the proposals were 
taking place. To assist with these investigations, the LHA asked the Applicant 

to provide the following information:  
 

• The number of AILV trips to the site;  

• The planned route of these vehicles;  

• Tracking drawings for the entire route to demonstrate these movements 
can be safely accommodated; and  

• Any structural assessments carried out by the Applicant in relation to the 

River Soar bridge in relation to these movements.  
 

The Applicant has now removed all reference to AILVs from the revised CTMP 
and stated within Paragraph 4.2.1 that standard articulated 16.5m HGVs will be 
the largest vehicle expected to access the site. The CPA has contacted the 

Applicant in respect of AILVs for further clarity and it has been confirmed in an 
email dated 3 June 2025 that there is no need for such vehicles to access the 

site at any time. On this basis, the LHA provides no further comment on AILV’s.  
 
   The LHA also asked the Applicant to provide a full scaled drawing 

which showed adequate parking for contractors/ HGVs and manoeuvring 
space within the site. The Applicant has now provided Local Transport 

Projects drawing number LTP/5404/T1/01.01 within Appendix 3 of the CTMP. 
The drawing details swept path analysis of a car and HGV throughout the site. 
Whilst it is noted only seven car parking spaces are shown within the site, and 

up to 50 members of staff could be on-site during construction, it is accepted 
that the Applicant has stated within Paragraph 7.6.1 of the CTMP that 

adequate parking would be provided within the site for all staff and that 
parking off-site would not be permitted. The LHA considers the site should be 
sufficient in scale to accommodate additional staff parking as necessary 

21



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

during construction and accepts that vehicles would be able to turn within the 
site to ingress/ egress onto the highway in a forward gear.  

 
   The LHA previously advised it would not support deliveries within the 

network peak hours as this could impact on the free flow of traffic on the 

B4114 which would be considered contrary to Policy 2 of the LHDG. The 
Applicant has confirmed within Paragraph 5.2.14 that no deliveries would be 

undertaken within the typical network peaks of 08:00 – 09:00 and 17:00 – 
18:00. Some measures the Applicant would undertake to enforce HGV 
restrictions and timings have also been provided in Paragraph 7.3.1 of the 

CTMP.  
 

   It was previously advised that wheel washing facilities should be 
located a minimum of 15m from the highway boundary to prevent water runoff 
draining into the highway and that this should be detailed on a full scaled 

drawing. The Applicant has confirmed this within Paragraph 6.5.2 of the 
CTMP.  

 
   Whilst the LHA cannot see the location of the wheel washing facilities 

shown on the drawing within Appendix 1 of the CTMP as stated, as per the 

above the CPA has highlighted documents submitted in order to discharge 
condition 11 of application reference 2013/1538/03. This details a permanent 

wheel washing facility situated well within the site.  
 
   Given the above, the LHA advises it now has no objection to the 

addition of condition 33, however it is requested the CPA updates the wording 
of the proposed condition to reflect the most recent CTMP (and latest 

correspondence from the Applicant)’. 
 
67. The LHA also requested the insertion of a further condition preventing larger 

vehicles accessing/egressing the site and provided a number of informative 
notes for the applicant relating to works in the public highway, the erection of 

directional signage and access to the highway network during the construction 
period.   
 

68. Leicestershire County Council Public Rights of Way – No comments 
 

69. Leicestershire County Council Ecology – No comments. 
 
70. Leicestershire County Council Landscape – No objection. 

 
71. National Gas – No comment. 

 
72. Health and Safety Executive (HSE) – No objection.  

 

73. The proposed development does not lie within the Consultation Zone of any of 
the major hazard sites or major accident hazard pipelines considered by HSE. 
Therefore, based on the information provided there is no need to consult HSE’s 

Land Use Planning advice team on this application, and we have no comments 
to make. 

 
74. Leicestershire County Council - Public Health – comments received.  As a 

party with an interest in broader air quality as part of its overall duty to take steps 

22



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

to improve the health of the population, LCC Public Health wishes to highlight 
the below for consideration in the context of air quality and health. This 

application is not in an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). The nearest 
AQMA is Kibworth AQMA Pollutants Declared: 29/11/2017, Nitrogen dioxide 
NO2 - Annual Mean. The previous Lutterworth AQMA was revoked in June 

2024.   Inhale – Interactive Health Atlas of Lung Conditions in England (Office 
for Health Improvement and Disparities - Fingertips Public Health data) 

information indicates the following:  
 

• Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD): Quality and Outcome 

Framework prevalence (all ages) for 2023/24 is 1.6%, which is below the 
England value of 1.9% and the East Midlands value of 2.0%.  

• Mortality rate from COPD, all ages for 2021-2023 is 26.8 per 100,000 in 
Harborough which is lower (better) than the England value of 44.1 per 

100,000 and East Midlands value of 43.9 per 100,000.  

• 2023/2024 data for Asthma: Quality and Outcome Framework prevalence 
6+ for Harborough is 7.0% higher (worse) than the East Midlands value of 

6.8% and England value of 6.5%.  

• Under 75 mortality rate from respiratory disease considered preventable for 

2021-2023 for Harborough is 9.1 per 100,000 
 
75. Local Member – Mr. B. Piper CC (Broughton Astley ED) (consulted following 

the County Council elections on 1 May 2025) – has been notified of the proposal 
and is a member of the Board so will be able to make comments during the 

meeting. 
 
76. Former Local Member – Mr N Bannister CC (Broughton Astley ED) 

(consulted prior to County Council elections on 1 May 2025) – objection. 
 

77. Mr Bannister made the following comments and requested that the application 
was called-in for determination by DCRB: 

 

‘The application to vary condition 1 is so extensive so as to be, in effect, a new 

application for which would be a better vehicle to consider the wide-ranging 
changes to the original planning consent. 

 
2. The application to vary condition 18 seeks the activity of transporting 
digestate for twelve months of the year, rather than the approved six. This would 

have an adverse impact on the amenity of the countryside location, the amenity 
of the public, including the many visitors to the area, especially those visiting 

the close-by Fosse Meadows Country Park by car, on foot, by bicycle and by 
public transport. 

 

3. The application to vary condition 26 would allow for elevated noise levels that 
would disturb the tranquillity of the surrounding environment. 

 
4. The application to vary condition 29 is ambiguous. Until the applicant removes 
the ambiguity concerning the proposed pipeline, no useful purpose would be 

served by varying the existing condition. 
 

5. Proposal for a further condition (no.33) - The transport plans submitted rely 
on doubling the months vehicles and trailers using local highways. The Council 
have previously considered and refused a previous similar application and there 

23



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

is little difference to the previous application and the new one. Under these 
circumstances an extra condition would serve no useful purpose.’ 

 

78. Mrs. R. Page CC (Lutterworth ED) (adjacent ward member) – objection. Fully 
supports the comments of Frolesworth Parsh Meeting. 

 

79. Cadent Gas, Harborough District Council Environmental Health, Natural 
England, Sapcote Parish Council, Severn Trent Water, UK Health Security 
Agency (UKHSA) - have not responded at the time of writing this report. Any 

response received will be reported verbally.  
 

Publicity and Representations 
 

79. The application has been publicised by means of site notices, press notice and 

neighbour notification letters sent to the nearest occupiers in accordance with 
the County Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement. One letter 

of representation, objecting to the proposal, has been received as a result of the 
publicity. The objection refers to the FPM response as containing the main 
points of objection but also includes the following points: 

 

• The proposed revisions should be subject to a new full application; 

• Lack of details relating to the proposed digestate pipeline;  

• Lack of details relating to the proposed connection between the AD 

plant and the gas transmission system;  

• Lack of details regarding the volume and nature of waste that will be 

produced; 

• AD as a technology is flawed political thinking resulting in proposals 
such as Sutton Lodge Farm AD facility; 

• The development maximises subsidy at the public’s expense; 

• Growing and harvesting of food crops as waste would be contrary to 

government policy relating to food security and the waste hierarchy;  

• The use of maize/other cereals as main feedstock would adversely 

affect soils and water quality and the landscape of Leicestershire;  

• The effect of AD technology in climate change is minimal; 

• Lack of information regarding feedstock origin; 

• Shell company as applicant gives lack of confidence. 

 
80. The representation also referred back to previous comments made in respect  

of 2024/NMA/0119/LCC. For reference these were: 

 

• No consent has been given for a pipeline;  

• an underground drain runs between the plant site and the River Soar 
which would result in year-round pollution of the River Soar;  

• Growing and harvesting of food crops as waste would be contrary to 

Government policy relating to food security and the waste hierarchy;  

• The use of maize/other cereals as main feedstock would adversely 

affect soils/ landscape of Leicestershire;  

• The changes would indirectly support the practice of factory farming;  

• Year round spreading of digestate on agricultural land increases risk of 
run-off and pollution of River Soar with nitrates;  

• Excess profits of AD plant are unacceptable in current economic 
climate.  

24



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

 
81. The issues raised are considered in the Assessment of Proposal section of this 

report. 
 

Assessment of Proposal 

 
82. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications are determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 

83. The applicant seeks to vary conditions 1, 18, 26 and 29 of planning permission 
reference: 2013/1538/03 in order to revise the approved site layout, allow for 

the export of digestate 12 months a year; update permitted noise limits; and to 
allow for operations to commence before details of the digestate pipeline have 
been submitted. It is also proposed to insert a further condition requiring the 

submission of a construction management plan to provide greater control in 
respect of traffic movements to and from the site. The relevant considerations 

in respect of this proposal relate to landscape and visual impacts, noise impacts, 
impacts to environmental amenity associated with alternative methods of 
exporting digestate and impacts to highway safety.  

 
Principle of Development 

 
84. The principle of the development of an AD facility at this site has been 

established by the 2010 planning permission (Ref: 2009/1488/03) which was 

subsequently varied by planning permission 2013/1538/03. The 2010 planning 
permission has been lawfully implemented, and the operator is entitled to 

operate a facility at this site under the terms of the existing planning permission. 
The principle of the development is still the same as previously approved but 
changes to the facility’s design are now considered necessary to bring it in line 

with the current requirements of the environmental permitting regime. Further 
amendments are also requested to bring operations in line with current 

agronomic practice, an updated acoustic baseline and a proposed delay in 
installing the pipeline to be used for export of digestate to the surrounding 
agricultural land. The proposed amendments would not result in a development 

that is significantly different from the development previously approved, which 
is acceptable in this location and it is considered that the development would 

continue to accord with Government’s sustainable waste management 
objectives.  
 

85. The potential environmental and amenity impacts of this development were 
assessed and found to be acceptable during the consideration of the original 

application. However, in the context of the current development plan, the NPPF 
and PPG, consideration has been given as to whether the development, as 
changed, would be likely to give rise to any significantly different or additional 

impacts to that which was previously considered. In this respect, the main issues 
that need to be considered are the need for the proposed amendments, the 

potential landscape and visual impacts associated with the revised site layout, 
noise and highway safety. 

 

     Need for Development 
 

25



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

86. Within the submitted supporting covering letter, the applicant has indicated that 
the purpose of the application is fourfold: to bring the scheme in line with the 

legislative requirements of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2016; to allow greater flexibility to operations in terms of the mode 
and timing of the export of digestate, allowing for greater alignment with the 

modern agronomic calendar and agricultural practice; to allow the AD facility to 
commence operations without the need to submit details of the digestate export 

pipeline in advance; and to ensure that the requirements of condition 26 (noise 
limits) are capable of being met.  
 

87. Due to the period of time which has elapsed since planning permission was 
originally granted and implemented, legislative changes, including the need for 

secondary containment of tanks and additional odour abatement requirements, 
have resulted in a need to make changes to the previously approved plant and 
feedstock reception building. It is noted that the proposed amendments are 

designed to ensure compliance with the changes to legislation  and, under those 
circumstances, in principle, it is accepted that there is a need for amendments 

to the design of the plant and structures to be made. Likewise, since 2009, it is 
recognised that changes may have occurred to the acoustic environment in the 
locality of the site which necessitates the reassessment of background noise 

levels.  
 

88. With regard to the proposed removal of the restriction on the export of digestate 
and the associated stated intention not to bring the pipeline into use 
immediately, it is acknowledged that the export of digestate by road from the 

site 12 months a year would, to some degree, provide the applicant with greater 
flexibility to respond to the demand for the digestate as a product. This 

consideration must be balanced against the social and environmental 
considerations which are outlined below.  

 

Landscape and Visual Impact 
 

89. Policy DM5 of the LMWLP seeks to ensure that proposals for minerals and 
waste development are well designed, contributing positively to the character 
and quality of the area in which they would be located. Policy GD5: Landscape 

Character of the HLP seeks to avoid detriment / unacceptable impacts to local 
landscape and its character. HLP Policy GD8: Good design in development 

seeks to secure a high standard of design for all development, including inter 
alia, respecting the context and characteristics of the individual site, street scene 
and the wider local environment to ensure that it is integrated as far as possible 

into the existing built form.  
 

90. Paragraph 135 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to ensure that 
development will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, over 
the lifetime of the development. It also directs development to be visually 

attractive as a result of appropriate and effective landscaping; and be 
sympathetic to local character and history, including, inter alia, the surrounding 

landscape setting.  
 

91. Overall, in terms of positioning and orientation, the proposed revised layout 

would not be significantly different to the previously approved scheme. Whilst 
some of the structures would extend slightly further to the west and south-west 

than previously approved, this would not require the relocation / realignment of 

26



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

the landscape bund which forms part of the wider site layout, and the structures 
would still be capable of being contained within the footprint of the ‘operational’ 

south-eastern part of the site as per the original planning permission. Viewed in 
the context of the overall scheme, this is not considered significant and would 
not be visually discernible at the landscape scale. In addition, as described 

above, the proposed revisions would also see the reduction in height and scale 
of many of the largest structures including the tanks, the reception building and 

the process tanks.  It is considered that the reduction in scale and height of the 
structures would be beneficial, reducing the visual impact of the proposals on 
the surrounding landscape.  

 
92. It is noted that condition 5 of the existing planning permission includes a 

requirement for a lighting scheme which is based on the previously approved 
site layout. A consequential impact of the proposed revised layout is that the 
approved lighting scheme could not be constructed. It is therefore 

recommended that, in the event that planning permission is granted, condition 
5 be amended to require the submission of an updated lighting scheme, based 

on the current proposal.  
 

93. Subject to the above, it is considered that the proposed revised layout would not 

result in significant landscape and visual impacts when compared to the 
consented scheme. Furthermore, the proposed revisions would result in a 

scheme with an overall reduced footprint and height which would be beneficial 
in terms of reducing landscape impacts. The request to amend the wording of 
condition 1 is therefore considered acceptable and would accord with the 

requirements of LMWLP policy DM5, HLP policies GD5 and GD8, the NPPF 
and the NPPW in respect of landscape and visual impacts.  

 
Traffic, Access and Parking 

 

94. Policy DM9 of the LMWLP supports proposals involving the transport of 
minerals and waste by road where it is the only practicable and environmentally 

preferable option; the proposed access arrangements would be safe and 
appropriate for the proposed development and impacts on road safety would be 
acceptable. The policy also requires proposals to demonstrate that the highway 

network is able to accommodate the traffic that would be generated and would 
have an acceptable impact on residents. Proposals should be in close proximity 

to the strategic road network and not result in unnecessary impacts on 
residential areas and minor roads. Policy GD8 of the HLP seeks to ensure the 
safe, efficient and convenient movement of all highway users including bus 

passengers, cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders. 
 

95. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented 
or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, 

following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future 
scenarios. Paragraph 118 requires all developments that will generate 

significant amounts of movements to provide a travel plan and all applications 
should be supported by a vision led transport assessment so that the likely 
impacts of the proposal can be assessed and monitored. 

 
96. The principle of the development of an AD facility in this location has previously 

been assessed and found to be acceptable in highway terms subject to 

27



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

conditions and the requirements of a legal agreement. Th is application proposes 
the relaxation of condition 18, which currently restricts the export of digestate 

from the site (by both road and pipeline) to between the months of March and 
September only, to allow the export of digestate year-round. The applicant has 
also indicated that, initially, the pipeline would not be taken into use, which 

would result in 100% digestate being exported from site by road.  
 

97. The planning permission is subject to restrictions in terms of annual throughput 
(55,000 tpa) and daily HGV movements (46 (23 in/23 out)) and these would not 
change under the current proposal. No restrictions are currently placed on the 

import of feedstock to the site and therefore the planning permission already 
allows for HGV movements to and from the site 12 months of the year. It is 

proposed that the digestate would be ‘backhauled’ to the origin farms in the 
vehicles used to import feedstock to site. It is therefore unlikely that the 
proposed amendments to conditions 18 and 29 would result in impacts to 

highway safety over and above what is already permitted. It is further noted that 
the LHA raises no objections to this aspect of the proposal and that they are 

also of the view that the change would facilitate a more even spread of vehicle 
movements on a year-round basis as opposed to seasonal fluctuations. 
 

98. The applicant has provided detailed information relating to the management of 
site traffic during the construction (CTMP) and operational phases (OTMP) 

including, amongst other things, the timing and routing of HGVs, vehicle 
manoeuvring and parking space during the construction period. They have also 
confirmed that, in consideration of the narrow bridge, no abnormal loads would 

be required during the construction phase. Following the submission of the 
revised CTMP and OTMP, the LHA has no objection to the proposed variation 

to the wording of condition 18 or the proposed CTMP. The LHA has 
recommended the addition of an additional condition restricting the use of 
abnormal load vehicles during the construction period and this has been added 

(as condition 34) in Appendix A to this report. This control, combined with the 
existing requirement contained within condition 9 for remedial works to be 

undertaken to the narrow bridge prior to the commencement of construction 
works would be sufficient to ensure that there would be no risk to highway safety 
resulting from the use of HGVs to and from the site.  

 
99. Concerns have been raised regarding the implementation of a one-way system 

for HGVs/tractors accessing/egressing the site before entering the B4114 
(Coventry Road). Whilst such concerns are noted, this arrangement formed part 
of the original proposal, was found to be acceptable by the LHA and, because 

it required a number of off-site highway works to be undertaken, was 
subsequently secured as a requirement of the legal agreement. Furthermore, 

the LHA has been consulted in respect of this application and has not raised 
any concerns regarding this aspect of the scheme 
 

100. Reference is also made to the previous refusal of the non-material amendment 
by this Authority on November 2024 (2024/NMA/0119/LCC) citing this as an 

illustration that the current proposal is unacceptable in highway terms. This 
interpretation is incorrect. The refusal of 2024/NMA/0119/LCC related solely to 
the proposed amendment being considered a ‘material’ change and therefore 

not appropriate for consideration via a non-material amendment.  
 

28



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

101. In light of the above, and subject to the imposition of the recommended 
condition, the proposed amendments to conditions 26 and 29 and the proposed 

insertion of a new condition 33 are acceptable in highway safety terms and 
accord with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, HLP policy GD8 and 
paragraph 116 the NPPF.  

 
Noise 

 
102. Policy DM2 of the LMWLP seeks to ensure that the effects of noise to adjoining 

land uses and users and those in close proximity to the proposal would be 

acceptable. HLP Policy GD8 (e) (ii) is supportive of development which has 
been designed to minimise impacts on the amenity of existing and future 

residents by not generating a level of activity or noise which cannot be mitigated 
to an appropriate standard.  
 

103. Paragraph 187 e) of the NPPF requires planning decisions to contribute and 
enhance the natural and local environment by preventing new and existing 

development from contributing to unacceptable levels of, inter alia, noise 
pollution. Criterion J of Appendix B, Locational Criteria of the NPPW provides 
guidance on the matters for consideration in respect of noise associated with 

waste development including proximity of sensitive receptors, time, type and 
nature of the noise, including the potential for nighttime operations.  

 
104. Consultation responses received from BAPC and FPM refer to the potential 

increase in noise impacts associated with the proposed amendment to condition 

26. Such impacts relating to the effect of elevated noise levels on the tranquillity 
of the surrounding rural area, and on the amenity of local residents and wildlife.  

 
105.   A noise assessment was submitted in support of the proposal. The noise 

monitoring results indicate that current background noise levels at the nearest 

sensitive receptors are currently higher than the noise limits currently set by 
condition 26. It is noted that during the daytime, background noise levels, 

measured as LAeq,T, were recorded as being 5dB higher at Sutton Lodge Farm 
and 7dB and 6dB higher when compared to 2009 background noise levels at 
both Fosse Farm and The Barnhouse respectively. During the nighttime, 

background noise levels were assessed as 6dB higher at Sutton Lodge Farm 
and 7dB higher than previously measured at both Fosse Farm and The 

Barnhouse. For clarity, the comparison is set out in the table below. 
 

Sensitive 
Receptor 

2009 
Daytime 

(0700-
2200 

hours) 

2025 
Daytime 

(0700 – 
2300 

hours) 

(LAeq, 
16 Hour) 

Difference  
dB 

2009 
Night-

time 
(2300-
0700 

hours) 

2025 
Nighttime 

– (2300 – 
0700 

hours) 

(LAeq, 8 
hour) 

Difference  

Sutton 
Lodge 

Farm 

41 46 +5 33 40 +7 

Fosse 
Farm 

44 51 +7 35 40 +5 

The 
Barnhouse 

44 50 +6 35 42 +7 

 

29



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

106. No specific guidance has been produced which relates to the control of noise at 
waste sites. However, Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (paragraph 001, ref 

30/001/20190722, accessed 19 May 2025) says that noise needs to be 
considered when development may create additional noise, or would be 
sensitive to the prevailing acoustic environment (including any anticipated 

changes to that environment from activities that are permitted but not yet 
commenced). Paragraph 003 of PPG says that decision making needs to take 

account of the acoustic environment and consider: whether or not a significant 
adverse effect is occurring, or likely to occur; whether or not an adverse effect 
is occurring or likely to occur; and whether or not a good standard of amenity 

can be achieved.  
 

107. The application seeks to amend the wording of condition 26 so that reference is 
made to 2025 background noise levels. This replicates the approach taken by 
the 2009 planning permission. Whilst it would be more usual to predict noise 

levels associated with any development based on background plus any 
predicted noise impacts associated with a development, in this instance the 

applicant has confirmed their ability to operate within the 2025 baseline levels 
with no uplift or headroom.   
 

108. It is noted that the site is relatively distant from neighbouring properties, the 
nearest being 300m from any site operations. Furthermore, planning permission 

2013/1538/03 also contains additional conditions which are designed to 
minimise noise impacts on the surrounding area. Condition 27 requires the site 
to employ several best practice measures to ensure that noise impacts 

associated with the development are kept to a minimum whilst condition 28 
requires all loading, unloading, processing, sorting, bail ing and storage of waste 

materials to take place within the reception building. Condition 4 restricts 
deliveries to and exports from the site to between 0600 and 1800 hours, 
Mondays to Fridays and between 0600 and 1300 hours on Saturdays with no 

HGV movements permitted on Sundays, Public or other Bank Holidays. With 
such measures in place, it is considered that sufficient controls are in place to 

ensure that no adverse noise impacts would arise.  
 

109. Whilst it is noted that the amended condition would result in noise limits which 

are between 5dB and 7dB higher than the current planning permission, in 
consideration of the fact that these higher limits are based on the current noise 

baseline, the distance between the site and the nearest sensitive receptors as 
well as the environmental controls provided by the other conditions of the 
permission, it is considered unlikely that the increase would result in significant 

adverse effects in respect of noise.  It is also noted that, in light of the updated 
acoustic information, the existing condition is unlikely to meet the condition tests 

set out in paragraph 57 of the NPPF as it would not be reasonable or 
enforceable.   
 

110. In light of the above and subject to the imposition of the recommended condition, 
it is considered that the proposed amendment to condition 26 would be 

acceptable in respect of impacts to noise and would accord with the 
requirements of LMWLP policy DM2, HLP policy GD8 and paragraph 187(e) of 
the NPPF.  

 
Pipeline 

 

30



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

111. The applicant seeks to amend condition 29 to allow operations at the facility to 
commence without the need to provide detailed information regarding the 

appearance, routing, operation and impacts associated with the use of the 
digestate pipeline. Instead, it is proposed that such information, in the form of a 
detailed Digestate Management Plan, be provided prior to the pipeline being 

brought into use. The applicant has indicated that, at present, there is no 
anticipated use of a pipeline associated with Sutton Lodge Farm AD with all 

digestate initially exported by road. The application documents also state that 
any pipeline would first require certainty of delivery before it would form part of 
a digestate export strategy.  

 
112. The precise route of the digestate pipeline is currently undetermined, although 

the original application documents indicate that the pipeline will have a diameter 
of 6 inches and would run across agricultural land at ground level between the 
AD facility and distribution points on adjacent agricultural land. The application 

provided a drawing showing the indicative location of land in the locality of the 
site where the digestate could be spread, although the planning statement made 

it clear that such locations were subject to further negotiation with landowners. 
Condition 29 was subsequently imposed on both the 2010 and 2014 
permissions requiring the submission of detailed information about the pipeline 

prior to it being brought into use. The reason for the imposition of the condition 
is given as ‘This consent is granted only because of the potential to secure 

specific benefits for the export of digestate products within the local agricultural 
area and the consequential reduction in traffic generation on the local highway 
network’.  

 
113. Notwithstanding the pre-commencement nature of condition 29, it is considered 

that the decision as to whether the pipeline should be brought on -line 
immediately or at some future date is ultimately an issue for the operator rather 
than a planning matter. Since the original planning permission was granted, the 

Government has sought to reduce the number of pre-commencement 
conditions imposed on planning permissions except in those circumstances 

where there is a clear justification e.g. where the requirements of the condition 
are so fundamental to the development permitted that it would otherwise be 
necessary to refuse the whole permission. In this respect, it is noted that the 

planning permission does not prohibit the operation of the AD facility if the 
pipeline is not constructed, neither does it set respective limits in terms of the 

volumes of digestate exported by either road or pipeline. There would be no 
increase in either the annual throughput of the facility or daily HGV limits to/from 
the site if the delivery of the pipeline were to be delayed and it is therefore 

unlikely that the proposed delay in the pipeline would result in adverse impacts 
to highway safety or local amenity over and above those which could already 

occur. In principle, therefore, the proposed amendment to condition 29 is 
considered acceptable. 
 

114. The planning permission boundary associated with 2009/1488/03 is drawn 
tightly around the AD facility and the access road and does not make provision 

for any pipeline. Section 55(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
defines development as ‘…the carrying out of building, engineering, mining or 
other operations in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change 

in the use of any buildings or other land’. The proposed installation and 
subsequent use of a pipeline to export digestate from the site is development 

which should require planning permission. Whilst it is noted that condition 29 

31



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

seeks to control the scale, form and impacts associated with the proposed 
pipeline, the use of a condition is not an appropriate mechanism to approve 

development which would normally require planning permission in its own right, 
particularly where that development would be located outside the planning 
permission boundary. Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states that ‘planning 

conditions should only be imposed where they are necessary, relevant to 
planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and 

reasonable in all other respects. In this instance, and despite the acceptability 
in principle of the applicant’s proposed amendments, it considered that condition 
29 would not be enforceable and it is recommended that it be removed from the 

planning permission. There would be no disbenefit to the environment or the 
local community as a result of the removal of condition 29 as the environmental 

and amenity impacts of any pipeline would be assessed during the 
determination of any subsequent planning application.  

 

Feedstock Mixture / Food Waste 
 

115. The concerns regarding proposed amendments to feedstock are noted.  
However, whilst the original application documents do provide estimates 
relating to the range, mix and origin of feedstocks, those documents also state 

that they are indicative and subject to contract. The planning permission 
includes a condition (no. 17) with sets limits on the mix and volume of each 

type of feedstock e.g. no more than 55,000 tonnes of food and agricultural 
wastes/crops per annum of which no more than 35,000 tpa should be food 
waste. The applicant has not requested that this condition is amended, and it 

is expected that the facility would operate within its terms. It is therefore not 
considered that the applicant’s stated anticipated mix of feedstocks would 

represent a material change that would require the submission of a new 
planning application.  

 

116. Similarly, it is not considered that HDC’s ability to meet the mandatory 
requirement of the Environment Act 2021 for all local authorities to provide a 

kerbside food waste collection would be affected by the current proposals. 
Condition 17 sets an upper limit to the volume of food waste that can be 
imported to the facility within any year but does not impose an obligation on 

the developer to meet that annual limit.  The applicant has provided clarification 
on this matter, stating that whilst the ‘Simpler Recycling’ initiative will result in 

an uplift in the availability of food waste with the potential to go into the facility, 
its timing and implementation remains uncertain, with contracts subject to 
public procurement rules. As a consequence, there remains a significant 

degree of uncertainty regarding the guaranteed minimum volumes that would 
be available for processing. In order to provide greater initial certainty on the 

availability of material, the applicant is therefore seeking to contract substantial 
volumes of agriculturally derived wastes, residues and co-products. In 
conclusion on this matter, the applicant is not proposing to amend the terms of 

condition 17 and would retain the ability to accept food waste as a feedstock, 
including that derived from kerbside collections. Whilst initial volumes of food 

waste are lower than previously indicated, the applicant would still be operating 
within the terms of the planning permission.  

 

Pollution to Surface Waters 
 

32



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

117. LMWP policy DM2: Local Environment and Community Protection is 
supportive of proposals where it can be demonstrated that the potential effects 

of run-off to adjoining land uses and land users and those in close proximity to 
the proposal would be acceptable. Policy GD8: Good Design in Development 
of the HLP permits development where it achieves a high standard of design 

including, at criterion e(ii) not generating a level of pollution which cannot be 
mitigated to an appropriate standard and so would have an adverse impact on 

amenity and living conditions. Paragraph 198 of the NPPF (December 2024) 
requires planning decisions to ensure that new development is appropriate for 
its location taking into account the likely impacts of pollution on, amongst other 

things, the natural environment as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or 
the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.  

 
118. One of the major concerns raised in respect of the proposed relaxation on the 

timing of the export of digestate relates to the increased potential for run-off 

into waterways. The concerns cite both spillage during the transport of 
digestate and the spreading of digestate on the land during the winter months.   

 
119. The application site and its surroundings are located within a nitrate vulnerable 

zone (NVZ). NVZs are areas designated as being at risk of agricultural nitrate 

pollution. Where land is located within a NVZ, landowners are required to have 
regard to relevant legislation (the Nitrate Pollution Prevention (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016) and follow detailed guidance in respect of the use and 
storage of nitrogen fertilisers, including anaerobic digestate. These matters fall 
under the regulation of the Environment Agency. 

 
120. From the information provided in the Digestate Management Strategy, it is 

understood that the proposed year-round export of digestate from the site is to 
enable it to be stored appropriately at the destination farm until such time as it 
is necessary to make use of it. Variations of crop, land condition and climactic 

conditions can mean that the appropriate time for spreading can vary 
significantly, often with a very small window of opportunity. There is no 

indication that the digestate would be intended for immediate use. 
Furthermore, the digestate would be transported from site in sealed 
vacuum tankers, either via HGV or tractor and tanker, ensuring no liquid can 

escape.  All aspects of operations at the Sutton Lodge Farm AD site, including 
the export of digestate materials, would be regulated by the Environment 

Agency under an Environmental Permit.  
 

121. Paragraph 201 of the NPPF states that the focus of planning decisions should 

be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than 
the control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate 

pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these 
regimes will operate effectively. 

 

122. In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed amendments to 
conditions 18 and 29 of planning permission would not result in an increased 

likelihood of pollution to surface waters as a result of run -off. The facility is 
subject to appropriate controls, in this instance regulated by the Environment 
Agency, which serve to minimise such impacts occurring. It is therefore 

considered that the proposal would accord with the requirements of LMWLP 
policy DM2, HLP policy GD8 and the NPPF in this regard.  

 

33



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

123. Mandatory biodiversity net gain (BNG), where developers must deliver a BNG 
of 10% as required by Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended by the Environment Act 2021) was legally introduced on 

the 12 February 2024. BNG is mandatory for all applications except where 
exemptions apply. Applications made under section 73 are considered exempt 

from BNG, where either the application for the original permission was made 
or the original permission was granted before 12 February 2024.  As such, 
there is no legal requirement to provide a BNG assessment or documents in 

respect of this proposal. 
 

Public Rights of Way 
 
124. Policy DM10 of the LMWLP seeks to protect public rights of way from 

unavoidable disruption. Where this is unavoidable, the policy includes 
requirements for diverted or alternative routes during the operational phase 

and following restoration. It also seeks, wherever possible, to secure 
appropriate, improved access into the countryside. Paragraph 105 of the 
NPPF seeks to protect and enhance public rights of way and access.  

 
125. Public bridleway W59 runs close to the application site. However, in 

consideration of the type and nature of the proposed revised layout or the other 
proposed amendments to conditions, it is unlikely that users of the public 
bridleway would experience impacts or disruption over and above those which 

were previously assessed and found to be acceptable. The development 
would therefore accord with the requirements of policy DM10 of the LMWLP, 

policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 105 of the NPPF.  
 

Sustainability of the Proposed Development  

 
126. When considering proposals for waste development, the Waste Planning 

Authority takes a positive approach which reflects the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development contained within the NPPF. Proposals should 
contribute to the three aspects (economic, environmental and social) of 

sustainable development. In this instance, the proposal would allow the export 
of digestate (by road) 12 months of the year to provide greater flexibility for the 

applicant as well as the farmers who will be spreading digestate on their land. 
It would also enable the facility to be constructed and taken into use prior to 
the construction of the digestate pipeline, providing the applicant with greater 

flexibility and certainty regarding the viability of this aspect of the development. 
The proposal is considered to accord with the NPPF in supporting economic 

growth, however, this must be balanced against the environmental and social 
objectives of sustainable development. 

 

127. Having regard to the assessment undertaken above, the application, if granted 
planning permission, would not result in unacceptable adverse impacts to the 

local environment or local amenity. The proposed revisions to the layout and/or 
scale of the plant would not result in significant landscape or visual impacts 
and has the potential to bring some benefit through the reduction in height of 

a number of the largest structures. The proposed removal of the restriction on 
digestate export during the months of October to February would not result in 

an increase in vehicle movements over and above those which are already 

34



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

permitted and may reduce the potential for seasonal ‘peaks’ in traffic flow to 
and from the site. Impacts associated with pollution to surface waters would 

also be controlled. No objections were received from the Environment Agency, 
or the Local Highway Authority in respect of the proposed amendments. 

 

128. Therefore, overall, the proposal is found to accord with policies DM1 of the 
LMWLP, GD8 of the HLP and the principles of sustainable development as set 

out in Paragraph 11 of the NPPF. 
 

Other Matters 

 
Planning Conditions 

 
129. Planning permission 2009/1488/03 was subject to a condition (no. 1) which 

required that the development was commenced within three years of the date 

of the planning permission. As set out the development was implemented 
within that timeframe. This situation was reflected in planning permission 

2013/1536/03 which saw the removal of condition no. 1. However, section 91 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that all planning 
permissions include a condition relating to the commencement of the 

development. In this instance, it is proposed that a new condition no. 1 is added 
which sets out that, for the purposes of any new planning permission, the 

development will be considered to have commenced on the date that any new 
permission is granted. This would ensure compliance with the 1990 Act but 
would result in a renumbering of all conditions, including those which the 

applicant seeks to amend under the current proposal.   
 

Need for new application/Use of Section 73 
 
130. Consultation responses and the public representation received object to the 

proposal on the basis that the proposed amendments would introduce 
significant changes to the previously approved scheme and that it would be 

more appropriate to submit a new full planning application. Such comments 
were made both in the context of the four conditions which the applicant seeks 
to amend as well as wider changes to the operation of the facility which are 

discussed in the application e.g. changes to mix of feedstock and the proposed 
delay in implementing the digestate pipeline.   

 
131. PPG (paragraph 013, ref 17a-013-20230726, accessed 19 May 2025) 

provides guidance on what is permitted under section 73 applications. It states 

that an application made under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 ‘can be used to make a material amendment by varying or removing 

conditions associated with a planning permission. There is no statutory limit 
on the degree of change permissible to conditions under s73, but the change 
must only relate to conditions and not to the operative part of the permission’. 

Paragraph 014 states that section 73 cannot be used to change the description 
of the development. The operative part of the permission is a term taken to 

refer to the description of the development. 
 
132. In this instance, the original application was for an AD facility with associated 

infrastructure and landscaping. The nature and description of the development 
e.g. ‘the operative part’ would not change as a result of the proposed 

amendments to conditions. Furthermore, no changes are proposed in terms 

35



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

overall annual throughput, volume of digestate produced per year, hours or 
operation or number of vehicle movements and, for all intents and purposes, 

the facility would be operating at the same rate with the same capacity.  
 

Contribution that AD technology makes to mitigating and adapting for climate 

change. 
 

133. The representation commented that the contribution that an AD plant can 
make towards mitigating the effects of climate change is so small as to be 
barely measurable. Paragraph 161 of the NPPF states that the planning 

system should support the transition to net zero by 2050 and take full account 
of all climate change impacts including overheating, water scarcity and flood 

risks. The planning system should also support renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated infrastructure. Paragraph 168 of the NPPF states that 
when determining applications for all forms of renewable and low carbon 

energy developments, planning authorities should a) not require applicants to 
demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon energy, and give 

significant weight to the its benefits and the proposal’s contribution to a net 
zero future and b) recognise that small -scale projects provide a valuable 
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions. 

 
134. PPG (Reference ID: 5-001-20140306, accessed 28 May 2025) provides 

guidance on assessing applications for renewable and low carbon energy. It 
indicates that increasing the amount of energy from renewable and low carbon 
technologies will help ensure the UK has a secure energy supply, reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions to slow down climate change, and stimulate 
investment in new jobs and businesses. It further states that planning has an 

important role in the delivery of new renewable and low carbon energy 
infrastructure in locations where the local environmental impact is acceptable  

 

135. The concerns regarding the contribution that the facility could make to an 
overall reduction in greenhouse gas emissions are noted. However, in line with 

the NPPF and PPG, it is considered that whilst the contribution that the Sutton 
Lodge Farm AD facility would have would be minimal, benefit would still arise 
from its operation as it would assist in ensuring that the UK has a secure 

energy supply, thereby reducing the UK’s need to rely on fossil fuels. It is 
further noted that the 2010 and 2014 both include conditions relating to 

measures to minimise water consumption and to mitigate the effects of flood 
risk. It is not proposed that such measures would change as a result of the 
current proposal. With that in mind, it is considered that the proposal would 

accord with the requirements of the NPPF in respect of delivering renewable 
and low carbon energy. 

 
Approval of the connection to national gas infrastructure 

 

136. The representation received expresses concern regarding the mechanism for 
approval of the pipeline connecting the AD facility to the closest national gas 

infrastructure, stating that prior notification is not an appropriate mechanism 
for approval. The applicant has confirmed that Cadent Gas would be 
responsible for installing the connection from the AD facility to its national gas 

infrastructure and has provided the Waste Planning Authority with copies of 
the connection offer.  Cadent Gas would be acting in  its role as gas transporter, 

and deemed consent for this connection is granted by Part 15, Class A of 

36



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) (Order) 2015 subject to a prior notification. Because 

this part of the proposal does not relate to a county matter, it is likely that any 
prior notification would be sent to the relevant local planning authority, which 
in this instance is Harborough District Council.  

 
The Principle of AD as a technology 

 
137. The comments regarding the principle of AD as a technology, the political 

thinking behind it, and the impact that the production of agricultural crops 

specifically as a feedstock for AD rather than for food production are noted. 
However, these are issues which relate to the principle of an AD plant in this 

location or introduce matters which are not relevant to this application. The 
environmental acceptability of an AD plant in this location was assessed, and 
found to be acceptable, by the Council’s Development Control and Regulatory 

Board (DCRB) during the determination of planning permission 2009/1488/03. 
These comments were further raised during the determination of planning 

permission 2013/1538/03. It is not considered necessary to reconsider them 
here.  

 

  Applicant name/company 
 

138. Matters relating to the name and nature of the applicant company are not a 
material planning consideration. 

 

Conclusion 
 

139. In conclusion and having assessed the main issues and potential impacts of 
the proposal, it is not considered that the amendments to conditions 1, 18, 26 
and 29 or the proposed insertion of an additional condition, would result in 

unacceptable impacts to the environment or local amenity.  
 

140. Allowing the export of digestate from the AD facility year-round (through the 
amended wording to condition 18) would provide both the applicant and the 
destination farms greater flexibility in terms of supply and access to the 

digestate as a spreading medium.  Likewise, allowing the applicant to 
commence operations at the site without requiring the submission of detailed 

information regarding the use of the pipeline would also bring economic 
benefit, allowing the facility to meet market demand. In both instances the 
proposed amendments would accord with the economic strand of sustainable 

development as set out in the NPPF. With regard to the proposed amendment 
to condition 29, whilst this is considered acceptable in principle, the operation, 

routing and use of the pipeline is development which requires planning 
permission in its own right and therefore cannot be controlled via condition. It 
is therefore recommended that condition 29 be deleted from any new planning 

permission.  
 

141. The proposed amendments to the layout and scale of the structures at the site 
are required to enable the facility to accord with the requirements of the 
Environmental Permitting regime. This need to make the proposed 

amendments is accepted in the determination of this application. The proposed 
revised layout would also necessitate changes to a previously approved 

lighting scheme for the site, which was dependent on the original site layout. 

37



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

The relevant condition has also been updated to require the submission of 
updated information in this respect.  

 
142. The submission of the revised acoustic survey and the proposed revisions to 

condition 26 to take into account increased background noise levels at the site 

is considered reasonable and would not result in a significant increase in noise 
impacts associated with the operation of the facility, it is further noted that, in 

light of the updated acoustic information, the refusal to amend the wording of 
condition 26 would result in a condition which was no longer reasonable or 
enforceable.  

 
143. Potential impacts relating to landscape and visual impacts and impacts to 

highway safety and the public right of way network have been assessed and 
are not considered to give rise to impacts over and above those previously 
assessed. It is also considered that potential impacts associated with the 

proposal would be minimal, negligible and suitably controlled by the other, 
existing, conditions of the planning permission.  

 
144. Concerns raised by the local community and issues raised by consultees have 

been taken into account and have been addressed in the determination of the 

application. 
 

145. Changes have also been made to the conditions of the planning permission to 
enable it to meet the requirements of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
in respect of the need to include a condition relating to commencement of 

development. This has resulted in a general renumbering of conditions as set 
out in Appendix A below.   

 
146. In light of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with the relevant 

policies contained within the adopted Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan 2019-2031; the adopted Harborough Local Plan; the Broughton Astley 
Neighbourhood Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (December 2024) and is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions.  

 

Statement of Positive and Proactive Engagement 
 

147. In determining this application, the Waste Planning Authority has worked 
positively and proactively with the applicant by entering into pre-application 
discussions; scoping of the application; assessing the proposals against 

relevant Development Plan policies; the National Planning Policy Framework, 
including the accompanying technical guidance.  The Waste Planning 

Authority has identified all material considerations; forwarding consultation 
responses received in a timely manner; considering all valid representations 
received; liaising with consultees to resolve issues and progressing towards a 

timely determination of the application. Issues of concern have been raised 
with the applicant, such as impacts of noise and traffic and have been 

addressed through negotiation and acceptable amendments to the proposals. 
The applicant has been given advance sight of the draft planning conditions. 
This approach has been in accordance with the requirement set out in the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

38



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

Recommendation 
 

148. PERMIT subject to the conditions set out in Appendix A.  
 
Officer to Contact  

 
Vicky Webb (Tel: 0116 305 4816) 

E-Mail planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk  

39

mailto:planningcontrol@leics.gov.uk


DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

 

40



 

 
Conditions   

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be deemed to have commenced from 

the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 
 

2. Unless otherwise required by this permission the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the following details: 

 

• the planning application and accompanying environmental statement dated 
November 2009, including the revised Chapter 10; as amended by the 

application documents received from Fisher German LLP dated 4 October 
2013; as amended by the application for a non-material amendment dated 

9 September 2022; as amended by the letter from EOS developments dated 
26 February 2025 and accompanying documents;  

• Drawing titled ‘Site Location Plan’ dated November 2009; 

• Drawing no. STNL-ABE-LAY-001 Revision D titled ‘Site Layout Plan’ dated 
November 2024; 

• Drawing no STNL-ABE- LAY-003 Revision C titled ‘Site Elevations’ dated 
November 2024;  

• Drawing no STNL-ABE-LAY-005 Revision C titled ‘Reception Building Plan 
and elevations’ dated November 2024; 

• Drawing no STNL-ABE-LAY-006 Revision B titled ‘Site Office and 

Workshop’ dated November 2024; 

• Drawing no STNL-ABE-LAY-007 Revision C titled ‘Biogas Upgrading Plan 

and Elevations’ dated November 2024; 

• Drawing no STNL-ABE-LAY-008 Revision B titled ‘CHP and Flare Plan and 

Elevations’ dated November 2024; 

• Drawing no STNL-ABE-LAY-009 Revision B titled ‘Process Tanks Plans 

and Elevations’ dated November 2024; 

• Drawing no STNL-ABE-LAY-00 Revision C titled ‘C02 Capture and Tanks 
Plan and Elevations’ dated November 2024; 

• email dated 11 January 2010 from Barry Groves to Nick Wakefield;  

• document titled 'Project design for archaeological recording at Stoney 

Bridge, Broughton Astley (Sapcote), Leics' NGR SP 504929 dated 8th 
November 2013; 

• Document titled ‘Soundscape Assessment’ (report ref: J3966) produced by 
Acoustic South East dated 30 January 2025; 

• Document titled ‘Digestate Management Strategy (ref: ETL840/2025) 

produced by Earthcare Technical dated 6 February 2025; 

• Document titled ‘Sutton Lodge Farm AD Plant: Construction Traffic 

Management Plan’ (Ref LTP/24/5404) produced by Local Transport 
Projects dated May 2025; 

• Document titled ‘Sutton Lodge Farm AF Plant: Operational Traffic 
Management Plan’ (Ref LTP/24/5404) produced by Local Transport 
Projects dated May 2025; and  

• The email from Sutton Lodge Biogas Limited dated 3 June 2025. 

APPENDIX A 

41



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the development that is permitted.  

 

 

 

Flood Risk – Emergency Procedures 
 

3. At all times, the development permitted by this planning permission shall only be 

carried out in accordance with the revised Flood Risk Management Plan and 
Access Strategy (Reference 09-039 Rev B, dated July 2010) and the following 

mitigation measures detailed within Section 7.0 of the document: 
 

1. Site operators shall subscribe to the Environment Agency’s Flood Warning 

Service. 
2. Upon receipt of a flood warning, site operators shall implement the Flood 

Risk Management Plan.   
3. There shall be no access and egress via the B4114 in times of flood, during 

which time the alternative access arrangements set out in the Flood Risk 

Management and Access Strategy shall be used. 
 

Reason: In the interests of minimising flood risk within the site or elsewhere in 
accordance with policy DM2 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
(LMWLP), policy CC3 of the Harborough Local Plan (HLP) and paragraph 170 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (December 2024). 
 

Hours of Operation – Construction Phase 

 
4. All site preparation, movement of materials and machinery and construction 

works within the site shall only take place between 0800 – 1800 hours (Monday 
to Friday) and 0800 – 1300hrs on Saturdays.  No such activities shall take place 
at any time on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays. 

 
Reason: To protect the amenities of local residents and in the interests of the 

local environment and to comply with policies DM2 of the LMWLP and GD8 of 
the HLP. 
 

Hours of Operation – Operational Phase 
 

5. All deliveries and exports of materials to and from the site shall take place 
between the following hours only: 

 

• 0600hrs – 0800hrs (Mondays to Fridays inclusive); 

• 0900hrs-1700hrs (Mondays to Fridays inclusive); and 

• 0600hrs – 1300hrs Saturdays; 
 

There shall be no HGV movements on a Sunday, Public Holiday or Bank Holiday. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the rural locality, to avoid peak flows 

on the B4114 in accordance with Section 3.23 of the Operational Transport 
Management Plan and to comply with policies DM2 of the LMWLP and GD8 of 

the HLP. 
 

Lighting 
 

42



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

6. No external lighting shall be installed at the site until such time as a revised 
lighting scheme, based on the site layout set out on drawing no STNL-ABE-LAY-

001 Revision D titled ‘Site Layout Plan’ dated November 2024 has been 
submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for its prior written approval. The 
lighting shall then be installed as approved and maintained thereafter for the 

duration of the development. 
 

Reason: To minimise the adverse impact of light generated by the operations on 
the local environment and to comply with policies DM2 of the LMWLP and GD8 
of the HLP. 

 
Ecology 

 
7. The measures recommended at Page 11 of the Landscape Use Assessment by 

Bats of Appendix D of the Planning Statement Appendices document dated 

November 2009 shall be fully implemented to ensure that the best practicable 
means are used to control any impacts on the ecological interests of the site.   

 
Reason: In the interests of the protection of bats and to comply with the 
requirements of LMWLP policy DM7, policy GI15 of the HLP and paragraph 187 

of the NPPF. 
 

Highways 
 

8. No development, operations or construction beyond those detailed and 

presented in the ‘ACE 13004 SAPCOTE AD PLANT ACCESS ROAD 
CONSTRUCTION METHOD STATEMENT – FIRST PHASE’ shall take place 

until a Traffic Regulation Order has been introduced along the north ern edge of 
the Guthlaxton Gap to prevent parking on this section of highway. 
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that vehicles associated 
with the development can maneouvre safely on the public highway and to comply 

with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and 
paragraph 116 of the NPPF.   

 

9. No development, operations or construction beyond those detailed and 
presented in the ‘ACE 13004 SAPCOTE AD PLANT ACCESS ROAD 

CONSTRUCTION METHOD STATEMENT – FIRST PHASE’ shall take place 
until a scheme of inspection and a scheme of assessment for the hump back 
bridge on Fosse Way (Stoney Bridge) have been submitted to and agreed in 

writing by the Waste Planning Authority.  Any remedial works identified in the 
schemes as the responsibility of the applicant shall be implemented in full prior 

to any development, operations or construction taking place beyond those 
detailed and presented in the ‘ACE 13004 SAPCOTE AD PLANT ACCESS 
ROAD CONSTRUCTION METHOD STATEMENT – FIRST PHASE’. 

 
Reason: In the general interests of highway safety and to comply with the 

requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 
of the NPPF. 

 

10. No use of the development shall take place until visibility splays of 4.5 metres by 
160 metres have been provided at the junction of the access with Fosse Way.  

These shall be in accordance with the standards contained in the current County 

43



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

Council design guide and shall be so maintained in perpetuity.  Nothing shall be 
allowed to grow above a height of 0.9 metres above ground level within the 

visibility splays. 
 
Reason: To afford adequate visibility at the access/junction to cater for the 

expected volume of traffic joining the existing highway network and in the 
interests of general highway safety and to comply with the requirements of 

LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 
 

11. No use of the development shall take place until the highway works shown on 

Drawings Nos. 13004/102 Revision A, 13004/103, 13004/104, 13004/105, 
13004/106 Revision A (all dated 29/1/13), 13004/109 Revision A, 13004/110 

Revision A, 13004/111 Revision A and 13004/112 Revision A (all dated 17/9/13) 
have been completed to the satisfaction of the Waste Planning Authority. 

 

 Reason: To enable vehicles to enter and leave the highway in a slow and 
controlled manner, in the interests of general highway safety, to afford easy 

access to the site and protect the free and safe passage of traffic in the public 
highway and to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 
of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 

 
12. No use of the development shall take place until such time as the wheel wash 

facilities have been constructed in accordance with the details set out in the 
document produced by plandescil dated August 2022 as approved by the Waste 
Planning Authority on 18 October 2022 under code reference: 

2013/1538/03/CS/11. Thereafter the wheelwash facilities shall be operated and 
maintained as approved for the duration of the development.  

 
 Reason: To limit the impacts of the wheel wash on the visual amenity of this 

countryside location in accordance with policy DM5 of the LMWLP and policies 

GD5 and GD8 of the HLP. 
 

13. For the period of the construction of the development within the site, vehicle 
wheel cleansing facilities shall be provided within the site and all vehicles exiting 
the site shall have all tyres and wheels cleaned, as may be necessary, before 

entering the Highway.   
 

 Reason: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material (mud, stones etc) being 
deposited in the highway and becoming a hazard for road users and to comply 
with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and 

paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 
 

14. The proposed access shall have an effective width of a minimum of 6 metres for 
a distance of at least 20 metres behind the Highway boundary.  The access drive 
once provided shall be so maintained at all times. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each 

other clear of the highway and not cause problems or dangers within the highway 
and to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the 
HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 

 

44



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

15. Any new vehicular access gates, barriers, bollards, chains or other such 
obstructions erected shall be set back a minimum distance of 15 metres behind 

the Highway boundary and shall be hung so as to open inwards only.  
 
 Reason: To enable a vehicle to stand clear of the highway whilst the gates are 

opened/closed and protect the free and safe passage of traffic, including 
pedestrians, in the public highway and to comply with the requirements of 

LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 
 
16. No vehicle with a gross laden weight over 3.5 tonnes or a length greater than 6 

metres shall be permitted to enter/exit the site via the emergency access from 
Frolesworth Road. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to comply with the requirements 

of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 

 
17. The total number of HGV movements (in and out) to/from the site shall not exceed 

46 during any 24 hour period.  Records of such movements shall be maintained 
on a daily basis and shall be made available to the Waste Planning Authority on 
request.  All records shall be submitted annually to the Waste Planning Authority 

within the first quarter of each calendar year.  All records shall be kept on site for 
at least 12 months. 

 
 Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on the amenities of this 

countryside location, in the interests of amenity and to maintain control over the 

levels of activity generated by the proposal in acordance with the requirements 
of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and GD8 of the HLP. 

 
18. No more than 55,000 tonnes of food and agricultural wastes/crops shall be 

imported to the site per annum of which no more than 35,000 tonnes per annum 

shall be food waste. 
 

 Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on the amenities of this 
countryside location, in the interests of amenity and to maintain control over the 
levels of activity generated by the proposal proposal in acordance with the 

requirements of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and GD8 of the HLP. 
 

19. There shall be no exportation of digestate from the application site hereby 
permitted until a Digestate Management Plan has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Waste Planning Authority. The Digestate Management 

Plan shall include details of both liquid and solid digestate including the means of 
export and how it will be used to maximise agricultural and environmental benefits 

in accordance with the approved Operational Transport Management Plan 
(OTMP) produced by Local Transport Projects dated May 2025. The Digestate 
Management Plan which shall also include a programme of implementation, shall 

be implemented as approved and maintained for the duration of the development. 
 

 Reason: To limit the overall impacts of the development on the amenities of this 
countryside location, in the interests of amenity and to maintain control over the 
levels of activity generated by the proposal in acordance with the requirements 

of LMWLP policy DM2 and policies GD3 and GD8 of the HLP. 
 

45



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

20. There shall be no importation or exportation of topsoils or subsoils from the 
application site hereby permitted. 

 
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development in a countryside location 

in accordance with policy GD3 of the HLP.   

 
21. The surfacing of the site access shall be maintained in a good state of repair and 

kept clean and free of mud and other debris at all times and until such time as it 
is no longer required for these operations. 

 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and safeguarding the local 
environment and to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy 

GD8 of the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 
 
 Landscape 

 
22. No development, operations or construction beyond those detailed and 

presented in the ‘ACE 13004 SAPCOTE AD PLANT ACCESS ROAD 
CONSTRUCTION METHOD STATEMENT – FIRST PHASE’ shall take place 
until the Root Protection Areas identified in Drawing No. CSA/1438/105 Revision 

B dated 12/11/13 have been fenced in accordance with BS5837:2012.  All 
construction and demolition activity within the Root Protection Areas shall be 

limited to supervised works only/hand dig shall be used for any excavation and 
backfilling works and any tree roots encountered with a diameter of 5 cms. or 
more shall be left unsevered. 

 
Reason: To ensure the existing vegetation on site is protected and minimal 

disturbance is caused to the root protection areas in accordance with policy DM7 
of the LMWLP.   

 

23. No trees or hedgerows within or immediately bounding the site shall be removed 
except those identified on Drawing No. CSA/1438/105 Revision B dated 

12/11/13.  No trees shall be removed until surveys have been carried out by 
suitably qualified persons and at the optimum time of year to confirm the presence 
or absence of bats in those trees identified for felling. In the event that the 

presence of bats is confirmed, a strategy for their protection shall be agreed in 
writing with the Waste Planning Authority before the removal of any tree.  

 
Reason: To ensure that only the agreed vegetation is removed, to preserve the 
continuity of amenity afforded by existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows, and to 

afford protection to protected species in accordance with policies DM7 of the 
LMWLP and GI15 of the HLP.   

 
24. Landscape planting and maintenance shall be carried out in the first available 

planting season and in accordance with Drawing No. CSa/1438/103 Revision D 

dated 12/11/13 and the ‘Landscape Implementation and Management Plan’, 
Report No. CSa/1438/003 Revision A dated 12/11/13. 

 
Reason: To enhance the development and biodiversity and safeguard the 
appearance of the locality in accordance with policies DM7 of the LMWLP and 

GI15 of the HLP.   
 

46



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

25. All buildings or structures shown on Drawing No. STNL-ABE-LAY-001 Revision 
D titled ‘Site Layout Plan’ dated November 2024, shall be constructed, finished 

and maintained in accordance with the details set out in the document from 
plandescil dated August 2022 as approved by the Waste Planning Authority on 
18 October 2022 under code reference 2013/1538/03/CS/24. Thereafter, all 

buildings and structures shall be maintained as approved for the duration of the 
development. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to minimise the impact of the 
development in accordance with policies DM5 of the LMWLP and GD8 of the 

HLP.   
 

 Noise 
 
26. Measures shall be taken to ensure that the operations carried out on the site do 

not give rise to noise nuisance/disturbance in the locality.  Such measures shall 
include: 

 
a) the effective silencing and maintenance of all engines, exhausts, machinery, 

plant and equipment, whether fixed or mobile; 

b) the location and organisation of on-site operations so as to minimise any 
noise impact on nearby properties; 

c) the minimisation, so far as is practicably and legally possible, of the level 
and penetration of noise emissions from reversing warnings fitted to 
vehicles; and 

d) no use of pure tone audible reversing bleepers. 
 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not become the source of adverse 
noise levels in the locality to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP 
and policy GD8 of the HLP.   

 
27. The noise levels attributable to the development when measured 3.5 metres from 

the most exposed facade of any noise sensitive property shall not exceed 
46dB(A)LAeq 12hour at Sutton Lodge Farm, 51dB(A)LAeq 12hour at Fosse Farm 
and 50dB(A)LAeq 12hour at The Barnhouse during the hours of 07:00 - 23:00 

and 40dB(A)LAeq 12hour at Sutton Lodge Farm and 42dB(A)LAeq 12hour at 
Fosse Farm and The Barnhouse during the hours of 23:00 - 07:00. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the development does not become the source of adverse 

noise levels in the locality to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the LMWLP 

and policy GD8 of the HLP.   
 

28. There shall be no external loading, unloading, processing, sorting, baling or 
storage of waste materials outside of the buildings on the application site. 

 

 Reason: To ensure that the development does not become the source of adverse 
noise or odour levels in the locality to ensure compliance with policy DM2 of the 

LMWLP and policy GD8 of the HLP.   
 

Odour 

 
29. The mitigation measures recommended in Table 3 at Page 9 of the Basic Air 

Quality Appraisal of Appendix F of the Planning Statement Appendices document 

47



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

dated November 2009 shall be fully implemented to ensure that the best 
practicable means are used to control the effects of odour.   

 
Reason: To minimise the impacts of odour generated by the operations on the 
locality and to comply with the requirements of policy DM2 of the LMWLP and 

policy GD8 of the HLP.   
 

 
 Water Use 
 

30. No use of the development shall take place until the steps to minimise the 
consumption of water as set out in letter dated 7 th November 2013 by Andy 

Robertson, reference 29383/CBH/PJ/ASR/ASR have been implemented. 
 
Reason: To minimise the impact the development would have on the use of water 

resources to comply with the requirements of policy GD8 of the HLP and 
paragraph 168 of the NPPF.   

 
Flooding 
 

31. There shall be no raising of existing ground levels within that part of the site liable 
to flooding, as shown on the submitted cross-sectional drawing entitled Proposed 

Road Alignment With Modelled Flood Depth (Drawing Number 09-039-009). 
 
Reason: To ensure there is no increased risk of flooding due to the impedance of 

flood flows and reduction in flood storage capacity to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of policy DM2 of the LMWLP, policy CC3 of the HLP and the NPPF. 

 
32. No use of the development shall take place until the surface water drainage 

scheme shown on Drawing Nos. 29383/001/001 Revision A dated 08.11.13 and 

29383/001/002 have been implemented.  Maintenance of the drainage system 
shall be carried out in accordance with Table 1: SuDS Maintenance & 

Management Table of the ‘TECHNICAL NOTE’ reference 29383/001/TN01 dated 
08 November 2013. 
 

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding; to improve and protect water 
quality; to improve habitat and amenity; to ensure the future maintenance of the 

sustainable drainage structures and to accord with policy CC4 of the HLP. 
 

Construction Transport Management Plan  

 
33.  The construction of the development shall be carried in accordance with the 

approved Construction Traffic Management Plan (Ref LTP/24/5404) produced by 
Local Transport Projects dated 13 May 2025. Any deviation from the approved 
document must be approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highways safety during the construction period and to 

ensure that the development accords with the requirements of policy DM9 of the 
LMWLP and policy GD8 of the HLP. 

 

Restriction on Abnormal Loads 
 

48



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

34.   The component parts of the facility being delivered will do so in containers on 
standard HGVs (maximum of 16.5m) and assembled on site. There will be no 

abnormal loads accessing / egressing the proposed development from Fosse 
Way/Roman Road.  

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure that larger construction 
traffic or Abnormal Indivisible Load Vehicles (AILV) do not access / egress the 

site and to comply with the requirements of LMWLP policy DM9, policy GD8 of 
the HLP and paragraph 116 of the NPPF. 
  

49



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

Notes to the Applicant 
 

Highways 
 
1. Planning permission does not give you approval to work on the public highway. 

Therefore, prior to carrying out any works on the public highway you must ensure 
all necessary licences/permits/agreements are in place. For further information, 

please telephone 0116 305 0001. It is an offence under Section 148 and Section 
151 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud on the public highway and therefore 
you should take every effort to prevent this occurring. 

 
2. The Applicant should be advised to contact Leicestershire County Council’s 

Network Management team at the earliest opportunity to discuss access to the 
road network to carry out works. The team can be contacted at: 
networkmanagement@leics.gov.uk   

 
3. To erect temporary directional signage you must seek prior approval from the 

Local Highway Authority in the first instance (telephone 0116 305 0001).  
 

4. A public footpath / bridleway abuts the site and this must not be obstructed or 

diverted without obtaining separate consent from Leicestershire County Council  
 

5. The Highway boundary is the hedge fronting the premises and not the edge of 
the carriageway/road. 

 

6. In order to provide the visibility splays detailed in condition 10 above, it may be 
necessary to trim the hedge back to and maintain it at the highway boundary. 

 
7. Your attention is drawn to the requirement contained in the Highway Authority's 

current design guide to provide Traffic Calming measures within the new 

development. 
 

8. In the context of condition 14, if the access is bounded immediately on one side 
by a wall, fence or other structure, an additional 0.5 metre strip will be required 
on that side. If it is so bounded on both sides, additional 0.5 metre strips will be 

required on both sides. 
 

Ecology 
 

9. Our information and recommendations result from our best knowledge of the site 

to date. It may change if further information is discovered. It remains the 
responsibility of the applicant to ensure that no protected species or their habitat 

is damaged during the works. The best method of achieving this is for a suitably 
experienced and licensed ecologist to conduct a full survey for protected species 
at the appropriate time of year in appropriate weather conditions. 

 
Environment Agency 

 
10. Applicants should be made aware that any works in, under, over or within 8 

metres of the River Soar require the prior written consent of the Environment 

Agency under the terms of Section 109 of the Water Resources Act 1991and the 
Midlands Region Land Drainage Byelaws.  

 

50

mailto:networkmanagement@leics.gov.uk


DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

11. The proposed anaerobic digestion plant will require a permit under Environmental 
Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2016. The Environment Agency will 

consider the following areas of potential harm when assessing the permit:  
 

• Techniques for pollution control including in process controls, emission 

control, management, waste feedstock and digestate, energy, accidents, 
noise and monitoring  

• Emission benchmarks for combustion products, temperature and pH  

• Air quality impact assessment, including odour and Habitats Regulations 

Assessment  
 

12. Please note that the use of (only) purpose grown crops for anaerobic digestion 

may not require a permit (a permit would be required if you were to use waste). 
Digestate storage from an anaerobic digestion plant may not be controlled by the 

permit if it has ceased to be waste. For example, treated manures and slurries 
and where operations meet the Quality Protocol and PAS 110. Where a 
developer decides not to parallel track their planning and environmental permit 

applications, we will not offer detailed advice or comments about how permitting 
issues affect planning.  

 
13. Containment systems will need to be to CIRIA 736 standard.  

 

14. If this application is not in parallel with an environmental permitting application, 
the Environment Agency advise at the earliest opportunity to apply for enhanced 

pre-application advice using the following link: Get advice before you apply for an 
environmental permit - GOV.UK 

 

  

51



DC&REG. BOARD 12/06/2025 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND REGULATORY BOARD 
 
The considerations set out below apply to all the preceding applications. 
 
EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 

 
Unless otherwise stated in the report there are no discernible equality and human rights implications. 
 

IMPLICATIONS FOR DISABLED PERSONS 
 
On all educational proposals the Director of  Children and  Family Services and the Director of  Corporate 

Resources will be informed as follows: 
 
Note to Applicant Department 

 
Your attention is drawn to the provisions of  the Chronically Sick and Disabled Person’s Act 1970 and 
the Design Note 18 “Access for the Disabled People to Educational Buildings” 1984 and to the Equality 

Act 2010. You are advised to contact the Equalities function of  the County Council’s Policy and 
Partnerships Team if  you require further advice on this aspect of  the proposal.  
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Section 17 of  the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a very broad duty on all local authorities 'to 

exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely ef fect of  the exercise of  those functions on, 
and the need to do all reasonably can to prevent,  crime and disorder in its area'.  Unless otherwise 
stated in the report, there are no discernible implications for crime reduction or community safety.  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Unless otherwise stated in the report the background papers used in the preparation of  this report are 

available on the relevant planning application f iles.  
 
SECTION 38(6) OF PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 

 
Members are reminded that Section 38(6) of  the 2004 Act requires that:  
 

“If  regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of  any determination to be made under 
the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.” 

 
Any relevant provisions of  the development plan (i.e. any approved Local Plans) are identif ied in the 
individual reports. 

 
The circumstances in which the Board is required to “have regard” to the development plan are given in 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990: 
 

Section 70(2) : determination of  applications; 
Section 77(4) : called-in applications (applying s. 70); 

Section 79(4) : planning appeals (applying s. 70); 
Section 81(3) : provisions relating to compensation directions by Secretary of  State (this 

section is repealed by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991);  

Section 91(2) : power to vary period in statutory condition requiring development to be begun;  
Section 92(6) : power to vary applicable period for outline planning permission;  
Section 97(2) : revocation or modif ication of  planning permission; 

Section 102(1) : discontinuance orders; 
Section 172(1) : enforcement notices; 
Section 177(2) : Secretary of  State’s power to grant planning permission on enforcement appeal;  

Section 226(2) : compulsory acquisition of  land for planning purposes;  
Section 294(3) : special enforcement notices in relation to Crown land; 
Sched. 9 para (1) : minerals discontinuance orders. 

 
 

 

52


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2025.
	9 2025/00337/03 (2025/VOCM/0028/LCC) - Proposed Variation of Conditions 1, 18, 26, 29 of Planning Permission Reference 2013/1538/03 Erection of an Anaerobic Digestion Facility with associated infrastructure and landscaping - Sutton Lodge Farm, Frolesworth Road, Broughton Astley.
	Appendix


